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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

St 755 4 22

For the year ended 31 December
BRET-H=1—HILEE

2023 2022 Change
—FT=g 2% 114
(restated)
(& 41))
Revenue (RMB’ million) I (NER¥E &) 262.6 172.1 +53%
Other income (RMB’ million) HAgg A (NR¥E &0 59.6 474 +26%
Operating profit (RMB’ million) BEAaR (NREE#E) 67.6 424 +59%
Profit attributable to shareholders J SRS A
(RMB’ million) (NEWE &) 62.4 37.1 +68%
Operating margin (%) KRB B 2(%) 25.8 24.6 +1.2pptH 43 B
Net margin (%) 12 %.(%) 23.8 21.6 +2.2pptH 7 B
Basic earnings per share (RMB) B B AR (N 0) 0.034 0.021 +62%
As at 31 December
wt+_H=+—H
2023 2022 Change
—FI=Eg SF 0O A
(restated)
(& 51))
Cash and cash equivalents Bl R BLG S EY
(RMB’ million) (NR¥H#IT) 366.3 279.6 +31%
Convertible notes (RMB’ million) RS (NREE #o0) = 28.3 ~100%
Equity attributable to shareholders JIE SR A HE £
(RMB’ million) (NRHHE &) 668.1 530.0 +26%
Current ratio (times) (Note 1) BB R () (HAE—) 3.0 2.2 +36%
Net gearing ratio (%) (Note 2) FAE R (M=) Net cash Net cash N/A
T & T4 A3 T

Notes:

1. The calculation of current ratio (times) is based on total current assets divided
by total current liabilities as at year end.

2. The calculation of net gearing ratio (%) is based on net debt (being total of
convertible notes and lease liabilities less cash and cash equivalents) divided by

equity attributable to shareholders as at year end.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A s R
For the years ended 31 December
BRET-A=ZT—HILEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
R CO=E O CE o CECHE DECEFEE E-AE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETE AR%TEHE AR®Tx AR¥ETT AR¥®TC
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)
(&A1) (A1) (A1) (REHE )
Results B3

Revenue i 4 262,644 172,093 86,554 321,400 1,868,180
Gross profit EF 131,385 98,402 45,368 117,665 686,292
Operating profit/(loss) mERA (EE) 67,637 42,422 69,257 (209,433) (895,743)

Profit/(loss) attributable to e H AL B
shareholders (5 18) 62,435 37,136 43,166 (213,713) (940,192)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share &R IEAZ I (k5 48)

(RMB) (NE¥TT) 0.034 0.021 0.024 (0.127) (0.570)
As at 31 December
BE+F A=+ —HILEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

RO EFECCE RO F ZECRE ZELE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FRE AR¥TT AR¥WTT AR¥TxT AR¥TT
(restated) (restated) (restated) (restated)

() (K& ) (KEHE ) ()

Assets and liabilities GERAE

Non-current assets FREEE 402,645 436,580 469,601 471,005 545,647
Current assets MEEE 413,830 341,538 214,162 242,124 559,409
Total assets Mg E 816,475 778,118 683,763 713,129 1,105,056
Non-current liabilities B AR 7,568 7,718 31,402 24,177 20,782
Current liabilities WA S 136,602 152,807 78,911 159,488 369,608
Total liabilities MEE 144,170 160,525 110,313 183,665 390,390
Net assets FEE 672,305 617,593 573,450 529,464 714,666

BEXBEHBEEBRARLAIFT | ZF_=ZH£F#H%|5
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PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
ERBEYIEFN

The Group’s

interests
Existing use  Lease term A
Property address* Wy 3 Hh B H 1 i 3% E A JRE A B 4
1. No. I Juhe Third Street, Tongzhou, rR B b 5t T A M Office and Medium 100%
Beijing, China A =R warehouse W HA
b UNEY SN
2. Linbing Community, Hanjiang, o B A A T R VL Factory Medium 85%
Putian, Fujian, China AT T Gk
3. Room 301, 3/F, Block 15A, Software 15 Ji P§ 2 B S 17 PG AL [ Office Medium 100%
Park Phase 2, No. 68 Keyuan Main BlE KBS TEMR A I — ] A= W HA
Road, Xixiangtang, Nanning, 1595 AL E 30198 5
Guangxi, China
4. Shops 1-118 to 121, 1-135 to 138, o [ Y] R A T P L Shop Medium 100%
Block 00, Today Xinduhui, No. 56 fift 1 % 569 Today 7 # JiE w1y
Jiefang Road, Xigong, Luoyang, OOME1-118% 121 ~
Henan, China 1-135 % 138 5% 7 5if
5. Shops 1-95,2-177 to 178, 2-193 to o [ Y] R A M T Shop Medium 100%
196, 3-190 to 198, No. 36 Taikang [B] % [ SR K B #4365 1-95 JiE H
Road, Guancheng Huizu District East, ~ 2-177%178 ~ 2-193%196 ~
Zhengzhou, Henan, China 3-190 % 1985% 7 &
6. Floor 1 to 9, Block 96, No. 1 Cuizhu H ] A N T R BT Office Medium 100%
Street, High Technology Industry JEE 2 B I 3R A 1 92 96.95% W= T
Development Zone, Zhengzhou, H1-9/g
Henan, China
7. No. 105 Yulan Street, High o g ] R A BRI T SR R AT Office and Medium 100%
Technology Industry Development 2 2 B I TR A 10595% warehouse H
Zone, Zhengzhou, Henan, China b NE NG =a
8. Shops C56 & C57, 1-2/F, Block T A A R E AT A Shop Medium 100%
S2, Zone A, Wuhan Jingkai Wanda Pl B ES w1 2C2m R ZS P B 5 S 1A
Plaza, 12C2 Wuhan Economic and B Uy A IR SR S22 1-2 8 C56
Technology Development Zone, C57%5% v &
Wuhan, Hubei, China
9. Rooms 601-606 & 614-620, w9 R U T AR [ Office Medium 100%
Hexiexiaoxiang Building, No. 158 H—RIEISSIE MM R A= i
Wuyi Main Road, Furong, Changsha, 601-606, 614-620%
Hunan, China
10.  No. 99 Lingxiao Road, Airport VLR A R T LR R Office and Medium 100%
Industry Park, Jiangning, Nanjing, 72 W 1 3 [l ¥ 5 199 4E warehouse i
Jiangsu, China WEON % KA I

Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023



PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
ERBEYEFN

The Group’s
interests
Existing use  Lease term AL
Property address* W 3 Hh B H 1w 1 & E JRE A1 HE 25
11.  No. 31 Hushitai Main Street South, HEEESEETIRAO G Office and Medium 100%
Hushitai Economic and Technology AR5 i B IR warehouse i H
Development Zone, Shenyang, EREPN R b /NE &=
Liaoning, China
12.  Shops 79-80, Block 1, Wanda Plaza, R A ] BUR RER )T Shop Medium 100%
Jinfeng, Yinchuan, Ningxia Hui B R I R U 1 A 79-80%% 5 G Gk
Autonomous Region, China k]
13.  No. 2916 Shiji Main Road, Zhangqiu, 7B 1] 3 & % 74 77 3 b & Office and Medium 100%
Jinan, Shandong, China 40 K 3291655 warehouse SRR
b NEY S -1
14.  No. 3908 Hugingping Road, Hh R b T R e G Office and Medium 100%
Zhaoxiang Town, Qingpu, Shanghai, 18 & 72 #3908 9% warehouse T
China N g
15.  22/F, Block B, Ludihui Centre, Hh B L i A M [ HE R 258 5% Office Medium 100%
No. 258 Longgi Road, Xuhui, Sk b R HP 0B 2248 b /N 1A
Shanghai, China
16.  Room 11101, Block 6, No.47 Hh I B 7Y A 7Y 2 T AR R Office Long 100%
Lejuchang Road South, Beilin, Xian, YRV AT L1101 WAE =i
Shaanxi, China
17.  Unit 3703-3711, 37/F, Block 2-1, B DL 1| R T S L [ Office Medium 100%
No. 68 Dongda Street, Zhiquan BROR BT I R Bres oM ot WA E i
Section, Jinjiang, Chengdou, Sichuan,  374#3703-3711%
China
18. No. 7 Chuangye Road, Xingwen Street =[5 P4 JI] & B2 5 717 B2 ¥ [ Factory Medium 100%
Office, Bazhou, Bazhong, Sichuan, WL S A 1A S A 2E TR N w1
China
19.  Room 601, No. 55 Jinbin Main Road, "B R i d [ /& KE Office Medium 100%
Hedong, Tianjin, China 5555601 % WEN % Hh 1
* English address is for identification purpose only
Ml P OE A
R RBEBEERARAE | ZF = FF K
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EV e

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Daphne
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) together with its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), I am pleased
to present the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023.

In 2023, the world entered the post-pandemic era, marking a significant
milestone in global recovery. However, global economic growth
remained soft due to concerns about constant inflationary pressures and
rising interest rate. Although epidemic prevention and control measures
were gradually lifted in China, allowing society to return to normalcy
and sparking a revival in consumer sentiment earlier in the year,
macroeconomic uncertainty hindered strong and consistent momentum.
In 2023, China experienced its slowest economic growth in three
decades, excluding the three years affected by the epidemic. Due to the
cloudy economic outlook, functionality, practicality, and affordability
have become important factors influencing consumer purchasing
decisions. Against the backdrop of a challenging operating environment,
the Group continued to advance its strategic focus on strengthening the
brand management of “DAPHNE”, optimising the brand licensing and
distribution business, and refining the supply chain system. Through
years of diligent efforts to strengthen its business foundation, despite a
slower-than-expected market recovery, the Group achieved significant
growth, outperforming the general market and demonstrating the
efficacy of its strategic initiatives.

The momentum of the online shopping trend remained strong
throughout the year, sparking a transformative shift in the e-commerce
landscape. Innovative players, particularly interest-based e-commerce
platforms, have taken the e-commerce world by storm. The Group
recognises the importance of adapting to the increasingly fierce
e-commerce competition. By effectively capitalising on its resource
advantages as a leading brand, the Group continued its efforts in
optimising its online licensing network, enhancing digital marketing,
and actively pursuing collaborations with various platforms. These
endeavours further strengthened the Group’s position on e-commerce
platforms, with “DAPHNE” holding a leading position in the women’s
shoe category on both “Tmall” and “Douyin” in 2023. Benefiting from
its strong presence on various online platforms, the Group’s online
licensing business sustained rapid growth, fuelling significant growth
momentum for the Group and enabling the Group to outshine its peers.

In response to the ever-changing retail landscape, the Group carefully
adjusted the pace of expansion plans for both online licensing network
and physical store network operated by franchisees during the year.
Despite a slowdown in offline network expansion due to subdued
consumer sentiment, the Group remains committed to cautiously
advancing its expansion plan as the retail market gradually picks up.
Looking ahead, the Group will continue to fine-tune its online and
offline strategies and strive to enhance the synergy between online and
offline channels, thereby maintaining a competitive edge in the market.

Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EV e

As part of its ongoing efforts to consolidate its leading position in the
industry, the Group has been devoting more resources in reinforcing
its core brand, “DAPHNE” and optimising its supply chain system.
Recognising the importance of customer satisfaction, the Group attaches
great importance to maintaining high standards to ensure product quality
and efficiency. Considering the growing demand for its products,
the Group has taken proactive measures to optimise quality control
throughout the entire supply chain, thereby establishing a mature supply
chain system to safeguard its brand reputation. In the future, the Group
will continue to refine the supply chain management, endeavouring to
improve customer satisfaction and enhance its competitiveness.

As a brand operator, it is crucial to continuously refresh and strengthen
its brand image in order to tap into young consumers. Building on the
success of the originality-centric collections launched in recent years,
the Group introduced a new pioneering design brand, “DAPHNE.
LAB”, and more original collections to carry on with the journey of
originality. With the brand slogan of “DARE TO BE #LE{”, “DAPHNE.
LAB” empowers the new generation of female consumers to express
themselves through uniquely designed products, which also strike a
remarkable balance between quality and affordability. With a mix of
contradictory elements in the design, “DAPHNE.LAB” encourages
women to break free from conformity and be their true selves,
embracing individuality and self-expressionism.

In view of the enthusiastic market response of the “Lollipop Collection”
in collaboration with a renowned artist earlier in the year, the Group
further explored collaboration opportunities and released the co-
branded “Sugar Cube Over-the-Knee Boots” with a designer brand at
London Fashion Week, strengthening brand equity and opening doors
for future collaborations. Encouraged by the positive market reception
of these launches, the Group bucked the sluggish retail trend and opened
both offline and online directly-managed stores of “DAPHNE.LAB”
in 2023. These achievements not only prove the effectiveness of the
Group’s strategy but also serve as a motivation to create more daring,
high-quality and value-for-money stylish products, inspiring more
women to embrace their uniqueness and boldly express themselves.

Looking ahead to 2024, geopolitical and macroeconomic uncertainty
will remain a significant challenge, casting a shadow over global
economic growth. Lingering uncertainty may continue to pose obstacles
to a robust recovery in China’s consumer market. The Group remains
a cautious view on the domestic economic recovery in 2024. However,
the Chinese government’s commitment to introduce a raft of measures
aimed at boosting domestic demand is expected to provide support
for the high-quality development of the Chinese consumer market.
While a full market recovery is an arduous journey fraught with
uncertainties, the Group will closely monitor policy dynamics, seize
opportunities, and prudently adjust its strategies in a timely manner.
Drawing on our proven business strategies from recent years, the Group
will continue to solidify its business foundation by focusing on supply
chain management, brand licensing and franchisee management, and
branding, allowing the Group to capitalise on the recovering market and
achieve sustainable returns for our shareholders.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
BV i

Finally, I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to all customers,
business partners and shareholders who have trusted and supported
the Group over the years. Also, I would like to take this opportunity
to express my sincere appreciation to our management and all the
employees for their hard work and valuable contributions during the
year.

Chang Chih-Kai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B BHLE o w52 40 A

In 2023, the impact of the COVID-19 epidemic gradually subsided, but
pressures on global inflation and interest rate hikes persisted, keeping
global economic growth moderate. Although China’s consumer market
began to regain vigour in 2023, the uncertainty about inflation and
income growth has undermined consumer confidence. The pace of
recovery appeared slightly slower than market expectations, and the
overall economic environment remained challenging. According to the
National Bureau of Statistics of China, China’s gross domestic product
(GDP) rose 5.2% year-on-year in 2023, marking the slowest growth
rate in 30 years, excluding the three years affected by the epidemic. The
overall economic recovery fell short of expectations, directly impacting
the retail market. In 2023, China’s total retail sales of consumer goods
grew 7.2% year-on-year mainly due to a low base for comparison with
the previous year, while the retail sales of goods increased by only
5.8%, which was slower than anticipated. Amidst economic uncertainty,
consumers have become more cautious and rational with their spending.
Many consumers are now gravitating towards “value-for-money”,
functional and cost-effective goods and services.

The online shopping continuance after the COVID-19 epidemic has
further fuelled the development of e-commerce platforms and injected
growth momentum to China’s economy. It was reported that China’s
online retail sales in 2023 recorded a year-on-year increase of 11%
to RMB15.42 trillion, making China the world’s largest online retail
market for 11 consecutive years. While online retail remained steady
growth in 2023, the influx of innovative forces in the e-commerce
industry greatly intensified market competition. In the face of shrinking
domestic consumption and diversifying e-commerce channels, the
Group, as a leading brand, effectively utilised its resource advantages
to persistently optimise its online and offline licensing business, supply
chain system and brand building efforts, resulting in good overall sales
growth that outperforms the general market.

In order to outshine in today’s fiercely competitive consumer market,
the Group has been devoting more resources in strengthening its core
brand, “DAPHNE”, to secure a leading position in the industry. In
2023, the Group continued its efforts in optimising the brand licensing
business, streamlining the supply chain system, and enhancing
franchisee management. Against the backdrop of a soft economic
recovery, the Group kept abreast with changes in the economic situation
and retail landscape and strategically adjusted its expansion plans for
both online licensing network and physical store network operated by
franchisees, with careful consideration. By undertaking these initiatives,
the Group strives to maximise its competitive edge, improve operational
efficiency, and deliver an exceptional brand experience to its customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o B e 524

As consumption is becoming more decentralised and personalised,
vertical niche markets are emerging to meet the growing demand for
specialised products and services that closely align with consumer
preferences and interests, mounting pressure on traditional e-commerce
platforms. In response of the heightened competition, the Group
leveraged on its resource advantages to further optimise its online
licensing network and strengthen digital marketing efforts on traditional
and emerging platforms, thereby gaining a firmer foothold. As a result,
the online licensing business continued to experience rapid growth. For
the year under review, the Group’s licensing fee income grew by 28%
year-on-year to approximately RMB103.6 million (2022: RMB§1.0
million).

Despite the slower-than-expected recovery, the Group still achieved
considerable growth in both revenue and profit, demonstrating its ability
to navigate the demanding market conditions. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the Group’s total revenue climbed 53% year-on-year,
reaching approximately RMB262.6 million (2022: RMB172.1 million),
while the Group’s operating profit surged 59% to approximately
RMB67.6 million (2022: RMB42.4 million). The substantial growth in
revenue and operating profit was attributed to a combination of factors.
Firstly, the relatively lower performance of the previous year served
as a favourable base for comparison. Secondly, the relentless efforts of
the Group in business transformation over the past few years played a
crucial role in driving this growth. In addition to fine-tuning its online
licensing strategies, Daphne gave full play to its advantageous resources
as a well-established leading brand, the wide array of well-priced
products catering to various consumer groups, its matured supply chain
system, the successful launch of the innovative brand, “DAPHNE.LAB”
and original collections, along with the collective efforts of the Group,
the Group bucked the sluggish retail trend and outperformed the general
market, demonstrating the effectiveness of its strategies and its ability to
sustain healthy growth in its operations.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, basic earnings per share was
RMBO0.034 (2022: RMBO0.021) and the board of directors recommended
the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.01 per share (2022: Nil),
totalling approximately RMB17,526,000 (2022: Nil).

Considering the progressive and steady strides made in recent years, the
Group maintains a steadfast commitment to advancing its strategic focus
on brand management of “DAPHNE” and the licensing and distribution
of footwear products, including women’s dress shoes and casual shoes,
covering both online and offline channels in Mainland China.
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In 2023, the Group maintained a strong development momentum
overall. On one hand, the Group persistently strengthened its online
presence to tap into a larger consumer base. As a result, the Group’s
online licensing business has once again demonstrated its pivotal role
in contributing to the Group’s sustainable development. In view of
the rapid momentum gained by interest-based e-commerce platforms,
e-commerce companies started to focus on competing through price
advantage and service advantage to boost sales. Despite the increasingly
fragmented e-commerce landscape, the Group, backed by its long-
standing reputation and resource advantages, continued to pursue
collaborations with various platforms, leading to notable success on
platforms such as “Douyin” and “Tmall”. “Daphne” ranked a leading
position in the women’s shoe category on the “Tmall” and “Douyin”
platforms in 2023. Furthermore, the Group’s consumer-friendly price
points rev up its appeal to wider audience. Leveraging on the significant
marketing efforts made in recent years, the Group has established a
strong presence on various online platforms, driving the Group’s overall
online licensing business to far better than the industry average. On
the other hand, the Group’s offline network expansion experienced a
slowdown due to weak consumer sentiment. In response to the dynamic
retail landscape, the Group strategically rationalised its online licensing
and offline distribution networks in 2023. As of 31 December 2023,
there were approximately 87 (2022: 149) physical shops and 601 (2022:
585) online shops, all operated by our franchisees under the licensing
arrangement of the Group.

Drawing on the favourable response received by the “Bubblegum
Collection” and “Sugar Cube Collection” in recent years, the Group
remained steadfast in its journey of originality with the launch of a
new brand “DAPHNE.LAB” and its original collections this year to
strengthen product diversification and gain more momentum from
young consumers. As a new pioneering design brand of the Group
with boldness as its core, “DAPHNE.LAB” offers high-quality and
value-for-money stylish products for the new generation of female
consumers to meet their daily needs as well as to satisfy their self-
expression towards fashion attitude. The brand’s slogan is “DARE TO
BE #LI”, which encourages women to break the mould and refuse to
be defined. They should be bold and express themselves colourfully;
be nonconformist and eccentric enough to blend together contradictory
elements and let their imagination fly; to preserve their personal
identities, and yet be not afraid to admit to following the trend so as to
“JUST BE YOURSELF”. “DAPHNE.LAB” hopes to make great strides
together with modern women in their efforts to live a colourful life and
refuse to be defined. During the year under review, the Group opened 3
offline and 5 online directly-managed stores.
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Moreover, the daring and innovative “Sugar Free Collection”
launched during the year under review, which seamlessly combines
3D printing technology and distinctive designs, has further affirmed
the effectiveness of the Group’s development path. Following the
successful launch of the “Lollipop Collection” in collaboration with
renowned artist in the first half of the year under review, the Group
continued its creative collaborations by partnering with a designer brand
to launch co-branded “Sugar Cube Over-the-Knee Boots™ and released
them at the London Fashion Week. The collection, which features cut-
out design on over-the-knee boots to exemplify its limitless creativity,
has received enthusiastic response from the market, attesting to its
artistic vision and appeal.

In addition, the Group carried on collaborations with influencers to
create engaging social media content in various forms to promote
“DAPHNE.LAB”, endeavoring to drive customer engagement
and product sales. Despite being at an early stage of development,
“DAPHNE.LAB” has garnered favorable market response, prompting
the Group to extend its market reach by opening more “DAPHNE.LAB”
online and offline directly-managed stores in the second half of the
year under review. Going forward, “DAPHNE.LAB” will continue to
develop stylish, cost-effective and uniquely designed footwear products,
fully unleashing the brand’s potential to achieve long-term growth in its
business.

In today’s rapidly evolving world, building a solid foundation is
essential for effectively seizing emerging opportunities. In 2023,
the Group remained committed to advancing product development,
enhancing supply chain system, and building a strong brand, so as to
secure a firm foothold in the industry. To enhance operational efficiency
and agility, the Group has been consistently strengthening supply
chain and efficiency management, resulting in a relatively mature and
refined supply chain system. As the Group’s products gain increasing
popularity, it is imperative to implement stringent quality control
measures in the supply chain, from the production end to the retail end
to ensure product quality, efficiency and customer satisfaction. Looking
ahead, the Group will seek continuous improvement in its supply chain,
endeavouring to maintain a competitive edge in the market.
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The Group’s revenue mainly comprises licensing fee income and sales
of goods in Mainland China. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group’s total revenue amounted to approximately RMB262.6 million
(2022: RMB172.1 million), an increase of 53% compared to the year of
2022.

A S T AL AAE B B K B A T HE A
LEMmE BE_F =+ -"A=1+— E!JLE
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53%o

For the year ended 31 December
BET A=+ —HILEE

2023 2022 Change
RO =g DR 554k
RMB’ million RMB’ million
AR¥EE LG AREHET
(restated)
(B H 1)

Licensing fee income  FFefEmgCA 036 81.0. +28%
Sales of goods — wholesale B 151.2 91.1 +66%
Sales of goods — retail B E e 7.8 - +100%
Total sales of goods it 1 B AEURH 159.0 91.1 +75%
Cost of sales %ﬁ % JE A (131.2) (73.7) +78%

_Gross profit from sales of goods  SaéieM 278 174 +60%
Gross margin from sales of goods B h 5 E 17.5% 19.1% —1.6pptE7 575
Total revenue I % AR AR 262.6 172.1 +53%
Total gross profit T A 131.4 98.4 +34%

Revenue from licensing fee income increased by 28%, from
approximately RMB81.0 million to approximately RMB103.6 million
during the year under review, mainly attributable to the increase in unit
price and overall volume of footwear products licensed to the online
franchisees.

On the other hand, the Group also focused on the distribution
of footwear products for better quality control and supply chain
management to both online and offline franchisees. As such, more
franchisees placed purchase orders with the Group directly. The Group
also tried to operate its online and offline retail business of the new
brand “DAPHNE.LAB” since early 2023, although it accounted for only
approximately 3% of the total revenue. As a result, revenue generated
from sales of goods increased significantly by approximately RMB67.9
million or 75% to approximately RMB159.0 million compared to
approximately RMBO91.1 million in last year. Gross margin of sale of
goods dropped by 1.6 percentage points, from 19.1% in last year to
17.5% during the year under review.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s other income,
comprising mainly gross rental income from investment properties and
bank interest income, increased by approximately RMB12.2 million
from approximately RMB47.4 million in 2022 to approximately
RMBS59.6 million. The increase was mainly due to the increase in rental
income due to less rental concessions to tenants after the COVID-19
epidemic as well as increase in bank interest income due to increased
bank balances and higher interest rates during the year under review.

The Group’s operating expenses (including other losses — net, selling
& distribution expenses, general & administrative expenses and
impairment loss/reversal of impairment loss on financial assets) were
approximately RMB123.4 million during the year under review,
compared to approximately RMB103.4 million in 2022, representing an
increase of approximately RMB20.0 million or 19%, which is mainly
attributable to the increase in selling and distribution expenses.

The Group recorded an operating profit of approximately RMB67.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2023, an increase of
approximately RMB25.2 million or 59% compared with the operating
profit of approximately RMB42.4 million in 2022.

Finance costs represent interests on convertible notes and lease
liabilities, amounting to approximately RMB3.8 million (2022: RMB4.3
million) and approximately RMBO0.4 million (2022: RMBO0.3 million)
respectively during the year under review. The decrease in finance costs
attributable to interest on convertible notes was due to the maturity and
conversion of the convertible notes in October 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s income tax expense
was approximately RMBO0.6 million, compared to approximately
RMBO0.3 million last year. The effective tax rate of the Group was lower
than the applicable tax rates from those jurisdictions in which the Group
was subject to tax, due to the utilisation of previously unrecognised tax
losses.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s profit attributable
to shareholders was approximately RMB62.4 million (2022: RMB37.1
million), representing an increase of approximately RMB25.3 million
or 68%. Basic earnings per share was RMB0.034 (2022: RMB0.021) for
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately RMB366.3 million (2022: RMB279.6
million), which were denominated mainly in Renminbi, United States
Dollar and Hong Kong Dollar. During the year under review, the net
increase in cash and cash equivalents is analysed as follows:

ROEBCOEAEFTAZ T —H s REEB S RS
EEY B NREE3663FH T (4 ARH
279.6 @ & IC) - EEUARM ~ Foo Rl oA 45 B
{7 o (o] BEAT N > B4 M B 4 4 A 4 348 0 3 8 00 43 AT
wmr

For the year ended 31 December
BETH=1+—HILHEE

2023 2022
DS Y e S
RMB’million RMB’million
ARMHETT ARWHET
(restated)
(RH5)
Net cash generated from operating activities A8 5 W AR B & iR A 115.9 120.3
Capital expenditure BB 2.5) (1.0)
Payments for acquisition of financial EEEMEEZ
investments AF H 3R T (31.8) (30.0)
Proceeds from redemption of financial o] < AR 2
investments EEE ¢l 42.3 -
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties 8 4% & ¥ 3£ 2 JIr 15 2K 34 1.8 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEYIE -~ BE RS 2
equipment JIT A% I 0.2 0.1
Acquisition of non-controlling interests s i I 422 o P E 2 (42.5) -
Bank interest received O R 17 1B 7.8 4.6
Lease payments NN (5.2) 3.1)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents B4 % B 46 S5 A8 W 1 v 86.0 90.9

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s interest income on
bank balances and deposits was approximately RMB7.8 million (2022:
RMBA4.6 million).

The Group also invests in financial investments, comprising wealth
management products and certificates of deposit, which are classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

The purchases of financial investments were carried out by the Group
for treasury management purpose in order to maximise the utilisation
of surplus cash. The Group considers that the purchases of the financial
investments will provide the Group with better returns than the returns
on deposits generally offered by commercial banks, and would not affect
the working capital or the normal business operation of the Group. As
such, the directors of the Company are of the view that the purchases of
the financial investments are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Group and the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Upon the maturity and redemption of the wealth management product
in April 2023, the gain of this wealth management product was
approximately RMBO0.6 million (2022: RMB0.7 million) for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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During the year under review, the Group also purchased certain
certificates of deposit from certain commercial banks in Mainland China
amounting to approximately RMB31.8 million. These certificates of
deposit have maturity of 6 to 36 months and bear fixed interest rates.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had certificates of deposit with an
aggregate carrying amount of approximately RMB21.3 million.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had equity attributable to
shareholders totalling approximately RMB668.1 million (2022:
RMB530.0 million) and total debts (being total of convertible notes and
lease liabilities) of approximately RMB9.3 million (2022: RMB35.5
million). The Group’s net gearing ratio remained in net cash (2022:
net cash) position and the current ratio further improved to 3.0 times
(2022: 2.2 times). Management will continuously monitor the Group’s
financial performance and liquidity position and believes that the Group
has sufficient working capital and financial resources for its operation in
the foreseeable future.

Foreign exchange risk arises from commercial transactions and
recognised assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the Group’s entities to which they operate.
The Group is mainly exposed to foreign exchange risk from various
currencies, primarily with respect to Hong Kong dollars.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing regular
reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures and the Group
may use forward foreign exchange contracts when major fluctuation
in the relevant foreign currency is anticipated. During the year ended
31 December 2023, the Group did not enter into any foreign exchange
forward contract to hedge the foreign exchange risk exposure. Any
significant exchange rate fluctuations of foreign currencies against
Renminbi may have had financial impact on the Group.

On 28 September 2023, the Company as purchaser, Great Pacific
Investments Ltd. (“Great Pacific”) as vendor and Yue Yuen Industrial
Holdings Limited (“Yue Yuen”), a company listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 551) and
the sole beneficial owner of Great Pacific, as Great Pacific’s guarantor
entered into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which (among
other things) Great Pacific shall sell and the Company shall purchase
approximately 40.04% of all issued shares in Full Pearl International
Limited (“Full Pearl”), whose subsidiaries were engaged in the business
of distribution and licensing of footwear products in Mainland China
and trademarks holding, for a cash consideration of RMB42,500,000
(the “Full Pearl Transaction™).
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Prior to the above transaction, Full Pearl was held as to approximately
40.04% by Great Pacific and approximately 59.96% by the Company.
As Great Pacific, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Yue Yuen, was a
substantial shareholder of Full Pearl which was in turn a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, and both Great Pacific and Yue Yuen
were therefore connected persons of the Company at the subsidiary
level, the Full Pearl Transaction also constituted a connected transaction
under Rule 14A.25 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Completion of the Full Pearl Transaction took place on 30 October
2023, upon which Full Pearl became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. Please refer to the announcements published by the Company
on 28 September 2023, 4 October 2023 and 30 October 2023 for further
details of the Full Pearl Transaction.

Save as to the Full Pearl Transaction, during the year ended 31
December 2023, there were no other material acquisitions or disposals
of any subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures by the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant
investments.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any plans for material
investments or capital assets.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had no pledged or charged assets
(2022: Nil).

During the year under review, the Group incurred capital expenditure of
approximately RMB2.5 million (2022: RMB1.0 million) primarily for
leasehold improvements, motor vehicles and office equipment. As at 31
December 2023, the Group had no material capital commitments.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 99 (2022: 90)
employees predominantly in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
Employee benefits expense comprising directors’ emoluments for the
year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately RMB42.8 million
(2022: RMB38.8 million), including share-based payment expense of
approximately RMB1.5 million (2022: RMB3.7 million). The overall
increase of 10% in employee benefits expense was mainly due to the
increase in headcounts and discretionary performance bonus.

The Group values its human resources and recognises the importance of
retaining high calibre employees. Remuneration packages are generally
structured with reference to market conditions and terms as well as
individual qualifications. In addition, share options and discretionary
bonuses may be granted to eligible employees based on the performance
of the Group and of the individual employee. The Group also provides
various retirement plans, medical insurance schemes, staff purchase
discounts and training programmes to the employees in Mainland China
and Hong Kong.

Looking ahead, the year of 2024 is expected to be another challenging
year clouded by geopolitical and macroeconomic uncertainty. The
growth momentum of major overseas economies is projected to further
weaken, while deflation may persist but at a slower pace. Meanwhile,
lingering uncertainty and instability may continue to weigh on the
Chinese economy. Despite the Chinese government’s commitment to
spur domestic demand, the Chinese economy has not demonstrated
substantial and consistent positive momentum. The Group maintains a
conservative and cautious stance about the domestic economic recovery
in 2024. It will closely monitor policy development, seize policy
opportunities, and continue to prudently review and adjust its strategies
in a timely manner, striving to deliver sustainable growth.

In spite of the challenging market conditions, the Group’s efforts in
strengthening its business have been effective and have enabled the
Group to maintain a favourable position in the market. The Group
will continue to make it a priority to reinforce its business foundation
by enhancing product quality and competitiveness, supply chain
management, licensing and franchising model, and brand image, so as
to gain more flexibility and resilience to address customer demands,
capitalise on emerging opportunities, and maintain a competitive edge
in an ever-changing business landscape.
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With a customer-centric approach, the Group’s new brand, “DAPHNE.
LAB”, quickly gained steam leveraging on its originality, bold and
innovative brand ethos and collaborative efforts with artists, designers
and influencers. The newly-launched collections have continued to
generate high online engagement and boost sales performance. Going
forward, the Group will continue to explore collaboration opportunities
to broaden its customer reach, particularly the younger generation with
high-spending power.

Embracing the norm of e-commerce consumption, the Group strives
to prudently expand its online licensing network on existing and new
e-commerce platforms, effectively tapping into its target audience. As
the offline retail sector gradually improves, the Group is determined to
carefully propel its offline expansion to keep pace with changing market
dynamics. In addition, the Group will take a step forward in enhancing
the interaction between online and offline channels, increasing exposure
on social media platforms, and introducing a membership programme.
The integration between online and offline channels creates a seamless
and holistic customer experience that meets customers’ needs and
preferences more effectively, fostering stronger customer relationships
and increasing profitability.

While the road to a full economic recovery is expected to be long
and bumpy, the Chinese government’s continuous rollout of policies
to stimulate domestic consumption will provide support for the high
quality development and gradual recovery of the consumer market. The
Group is optimistic about the long-term development of the Chinese
consumer market. By staying attuned to market trends and consumer
preferences, and strengthening the core of its business, the Group is
poised to capitalise on the recovering market and achieve sustainable
growth.
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Mr. CHANG Chih-Kai, aged 43, has been an executive director of
the Company since November 2004 and has been appointed as the
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) since May 2017. He was also
the chief executive officer (“CEO”) of the Company from April 2016 to
October 2020. Mr. Chang is also a member of each of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”). He is mainly responsible for the management
of the Board, product development and supply chain management of the
Group.

Mr. Chang studied a bachelor’s degree of art in Auckland University
after graduation from Pakuranga College in New Zealand. He is the
brother of Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao, an executive director and the CEO,
and holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. CHANG Chih-Chiao, aged 41, joined the Group in 2007 and has
become an executive director of the Company since June 2009. He
has been appointed as the CEO since October 2020 and is currently
responsible for strategic and business planning of the Group. He also
specialises in product design and marketing functions.

Mr. Chang obtained a bachelor’s degree in Visual Communication
from Northumbria University in the United Kingdom. Mr. Chang is the
brother of Mr. Chang Chih-Kai, the Chairman and an executive director
of the Company, and also holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of
the Company.

Mr. WANG Jungang, aged 41, has been appointed as an executive
director of the Company and chief operating officer of the Company
since October 2020. He is responsible for the overall sales operation and
the development of brand licensing business of the Group. Mr. Wang
was a co-founder of Shanghai Tai Yue E-Commerce Ltd., also known as
Tailorism, an online made-to-measure startup company which aimed to
provide solutions for fitting of clothing based on 3D modeling and big
data computing, and acted as its chief executive officer from October
2014 to October 2020. He has extensive experience in establishing
financial models, and strategic and business operation planning. He was
previously the chief operating officer of Shanghai Muyao Textile Ltd.
(Shirley Pajamas) from February 2012 to September 2014 and worked
at Morgan Stanley Management Service (Shanghai) Ltd. as an analyst
from August 2008 to January 2012.

Mr. Wang obtained a master’s degree in Computer Software and
Theory from Peking University in July 2008 and a bachelor’s degree in
Computer Science and Technology from Nanjing University of Science
and Technology in July 2005.
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Mr. HUANG Shun-Tsai, aged 70, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since 2001 and is also the chairman
of the Nomination Committee, and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Board. Mr. Huang is
also a director of two health technology companies in Taiwan and has
been active in the health technology field for over 30 years.

Mr. HON Ping Cho Terence, aged 64, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since September 2019. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of each of the
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Currently, Mr. Hon is also an independent non-executive director of
three other companies listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, namely Xiabuxiabu Catering Management (China) Holdings
Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 520), 361 Degrees International Limited (Stock
Code: 1361) and SinoMab BioScience Limited (Stock Code: 3681).
Between December 2017 to May 2021, Mr. Hon was the independent
non-executive director of Jimu Group Limited (Stock Code: 8§187). He
was previously the chief financial officer and company secretary of
DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code:
620) from June 2016 (as chief financial officer) and November 2016 (as
company secretary) until September 2018. Prior to working at DTXS
Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited, Mr. Hon worked at
a number of companies, including Auto Italia Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 720) as chief financial officer and company secretary between
December 2013 and April 2016, China Dongxiang (Group) Co., Ltd.
(Stock Code: 3818) as chief financial officer between December 2010
and October 2012, Ka Wah Construction Materials (Hong Kong)
Limited as chief financial officer between September 2008 to December
2010, TOM Group Limited (Stock Code: 2383) between June 2001 and
February 2008 with his last position as the group finance director, and
Ng Fung Hong Limited as a company secretary of the group between
1996 and 2001. Before moving to the commercial sector, Mr. Hon
worked in an international accounting firm.

Mr. Hon is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales. He obtained a master’s degree in Business
Administration (Financial Services) from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in November 2004.
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Mr. TAN Philip, aged 41, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company since August 2021. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the Board.

Currently, Mr. Tan has also been an executive director of Pacific
Millennium Packaging Group Corporation (Stock Code: 1820), a
company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, with
effect from 1 November 2022 after having served as a non-executive
director between December 2019 and October 2022. Besides, he is
also a director of (i) Chongqing Stone Tan Credit Guarantee Company
Limited, (ii) Chongqing Stone Tan Financial Leasing Company
Limited; (iii) Chongqing Stone Tan Small Business Loans Company
Limited; (iv) Shanghai Asiacorp Communications Co., Ltd.; and (v)
Shanghai Pacific Millennium Asiacorp Communications Company
Limited.

Mr. Tan has been working as the finance service product and project
director of Stone Tan China Finance and Investment (Hong Kong)
Company Limited since January 2010. Mr. Tan worked for Nestle
Group in the United States of America, France and Shanghai,
respectively, during the period from 2004 to 2008 and held various
positions including global sales development project manager and
regional sales manager. He also served various positions including
operational manager, project manager, technical manager and general
manager in the various group companies of Pacific Millennium
Packaging Group Corporation in some period between 2008 and 2009.

Mr. Tan holds a master’s degree of business administration from

University of Nebraska, USA and the degree of bachelor of science from
School of Business, Babson College, USA.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
e SRR

The Company recognises the vital importance of good corporate
governance to the Group’s success and sustainability. The Company
is committed to achieving a high standard of corporate governance
practices as an essential component of high quality and has introduced
corporate governance practices appropriate to the operation and growth
of its business.

The Company has applied the principles set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as contained in Appendix
C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Throughout the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions set
out in the CG Code.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) will continue
to enhance its corporate governance practices appropriate to the
operation and growth of its business and to review such practices
from time to time to ensure that the Company complies with
statutory and professional standards and align with the latest
development.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules for dealing in securities
of the Company by its directors. Having made specific enquiry
with all directors of the Company, all directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company also requires relevant officers and employees of
the Group who, because of such office or employment, is likely
to possess inside information in relation to the Company or its
securities, be also bound by the Model Code, which prohibits
them to deal in securities of the Company at any time when he/
she possesses inside information in relation to those securities.
No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant
officers and employees was noted by the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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The Board and Board Committees as at the date of this report

WEARE AW EEGNEFFRETE

comprise: Bam AT :
Members of the Board/ Date of first Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committees becoming director Committee Committee Committee
HHE/ EHABTEHANA HRMEEFZHY H#NRERE WHEREG  HMZHEG
Executive directors:
HITEF -
Mr. Chang Chih-Kai (Chairman) 22 November 2004 Member Member
REINEE (EH) “EENEF A+ H =) A
Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao (CEO) 12 June 2009
REGRE (FTHAH) “EEREAATH
Mr. Wang Jungang 21 October 2020
EREAE SECEETA -+ H
Independent non-executive directors:
B HBITES
Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai 31 July 2001 Member Chairman Member
HA I A “FF-FLA=1—H A BN AR
Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence 25 September 2019 Chairman Member Member
TR S “E-RLEAZTLA ER ie= A
Mr. Tan Philip 2 August 2021 Member Member Chairman
[N “E--FNAHACH 1 B T

The executive directors draw on a rich and diverse experience
from the footwear distribution and retail business through
both online and offline channels as well as brand management
while the independent non-executive directors possess
appropriate professional qualifications and management
expertise in various industries. Through active participation
in board meetings to bring independent judgement to bear
on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standards of conduct, taking
the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of
interests and serving on board committees, all independent
non-executive directors contribute to the effective direction
of the Company and to safeguard the interests of the
Company and its shareholders.
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In order to ensure that independent views and input of the
independent non-executive directors are made available to
the Board, the Nomination Committee and the Board are
committed to assess the directors’ independence annually
with regards to all relevant factors related to the independent
non-executive directors including the following:

. required character, integrity, expertise, experience and
stability to fulfill their roles;

. time commitment and attention to the Company’s
affairs;

. firm commitment to their independent roles and to the
Board;

. declaration of conflicts of interest in their roles as
independent non-executive directors;

. no involvement in the daily management of the
Company nor in any relationship or circumstances
which would affect the exercise of their independent
judgement; and

. the chairman meets with the independent non-executive
directors regularly without the presence of the executive
directors.

The Board has reviewed the above mechanism and considers
the same has been effectively implemented during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board was in
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive directors (representing at least one-third of the
Board), with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing appropriate professional qualifications and
accounting and related financial management expertise.

Each independent non-executive director has provided the
Company annual confirmation of his independence to the
Company, and the Company considers these directors to be
independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
names, biographies of the directors and relationship among
them are set out in the “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 22 to 24 of this annual report.
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The Board is responsible for overall management and control
of the Company, including the approval and monitoring of
all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management systems, material transactions
(in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant financial and operational matters.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and service of the company
secretary and senior management. Any director may request
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company’s expense, upon making reasonable request
to the Board.

The Board has delegated responsibilities to the executive
directors and senior management of the Company, including
implementing decisions of the Board and directing and
conducting the day-to-day operation and the management of
the Group. The delegated functions and responsibilities are
periodically reviewed by the Board and approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
are entered.

The appointment of a new director must be approved by
the Board. The Board has delegated to the Nomination
Committee to select and recommend candidates for
directorship including the consideration of referrals and
engagement of external recruitment professionals when
necessary. The Nomination Committee has established
certain guidelines to assess the candidates. These guidelines
emphasise appropriate professional knowledge and industry
experience, personal ethics, integrity and personal skills, and
possible time commitments to the Board and the Company.

Each newly appointed director would receive a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction package covering business
operations, policy and procedures of the Company as well as
the general, statutory and regulatory obligations of being a
director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently aware of his/her
responsibilities under the Listing Rules and other relevant
legal and regulatory requirements and the Company’s
business and governance policies.

Each of the directors (including non-executive directors) has
letter of appointment with the Company and is appointed
for an initial term of three years. All directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
and are eligible for re-election at annual general meetings
in accordance with the Listing Rules and the articles of
association of the Company. Every director newly appointed
by the Board is subject to re-election at the next following
general meeting after his/her appointment.
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Notwithstanding the fact that Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai has
served as an independent non-executive director for more
than 9 years, the Board is satisfied that Mr. Huang has
been providing independent and objective judgement
and advice to the Board to safeguard the interests of the
Company and the shareholders as a whole. He has also
actively participated in board meetings and board committee
meetings of the Company. Mr. Huang has been able to fulfill
the independence requirements as an independent non-
executive director over the years, and to the best knowledge
of the directors, he is independent from other directors and
management of the Company, and is free from any business
or other relationships or circumstances which could interfere
with the exercise of his independent and professional
judgement.

In addition, Mr. Huang is familiar with the Group’s
business and culture. He is also an entrepreneur on health
and technology industry for over 30 years who have been
and can continue to provide various advice to the Board
from different perspectives, and has contributed to the
effectiveness of the Board for the interest of the shareholders.
Besides, Mr. Huang, currently the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company,
has also been continuously providing valuable guidance to
the Board.

The Board is therefore of the view that the long service of
Mr. Huang would not affect his exercise of independent
judgement and was satisfied that he has required character,
integrity and experience to continue to fulfill the roles of an
independent non-executive director.

Pursuant to article 84(1) of the Company’s articles of
association, at each annual general meeting one-third of
the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by
rotation provided that every director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every
three years.

Accordingly, each of Mr. Wang Jungang and Mr. Tan Philip
will retire from office as directors at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. Mr. Wang and Mr. Tan,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
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The Board holds regular meetings no less than 4 times each
year to formulate overall strategy of the Group, monitor its
financial performance and maintain effective oversight over
management. Directors may participate either in person or
through electronic means of communications. Notice of
regular board meetings is served to all directors at least 14
days prior to the meeting. For other board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Agenda of each board meeting is usually sent to all directors
together with the notice of meeting in order to give them an
opportunity to include any other matters in the agenda for
discussion in the meeting. Board papers together with all
appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to
directors at least 3 days before each board meeting to keep
the directors apprised of the latest development and financial
position of the Group and to enable them to make informed
decisions. The Board and each director also have separate
and independent access to the senior management whenever
necessary.

The Chairman and other relevant senior management
normally attend regular board and committee meetings, and
where necessary, other board and committee meetings to
advise on business development, financial and accounting
matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance,
environmental, social and governance issues and other major
aspects of the Group. Draft minutes are normally circulated
to all directors for comment in due course after each meeting
and the final copy, which is kept by the company secretary, is
open for directors’ inspection.

Any material transaction, which involves a conflict of
interests for a substantial shareholder or a director, will be
considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened
board meeting. Except for those circumstances permitted by
the Company’s articles of association, a director who has a
material interest in any contract, transaction, arrangement
or any other kind of proposal put forward to the Board for
consideration shall abstain from voting on the relevant
resolution and such director shall not be counted for quorum
determination purposes.

Apart from regular board meetings, the Chairman also held
a meeting with the independent non-executive directors
without the presence of the executive directors during the
year.

The Board annually reviews the implementation and
effectiveness of the above mechanism to ensure availability
of independent views and input to the Board.
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Liability insurance for directors and officers of the Group AN A B AL M 2 R s O B
was maintained by the Company with coverage for any legal EAL R B S AT R R g g L 2
liabilities which may arise in the course of performing their AT o] v R AT 4R A R e o (R Bt 2 (R s 6 1
duties. The scope of coverage of the insurance is subject to JER B AR AR AT

review annually.

All directors should keep abreast of their collective JT A g E R O S A R 3 R 0 Sk )
responsibilities and of the conduct and business activities BT B B sp L RO N A SERS IS ) - AL
of the Company. The Company is responsible for arranging A A E B L B PR R 0 5 S
and funding suitable training for its directors. Accordingly, By o B AN R BEFEE T8
the Company has put in place a training and development e > HG - ) AP T E SR E3r3.4
programme for the directors including: (i) induction TAT - R IR EE T | — 0 T R A 0 AR
programme as described in section “3.4 Appointment, Bl B (i) 2 = 0 R A 5 ) B S e T A
Re-election and Removal of Directors” above for newly T o

appointed directors; and (ii) on-going training and
professional development programmes for directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the directors of WERE_F =4+ _H=+—HIL4
the Company participated in the continuous professional JEo ANFESREBLL N A BHET AR
developments in relation to roles and responsibilities of HREAOMEA > D BT 3R
directors, and regulatory updates of the Listing Rules, MEREIRRE L R EERERNEE
environmental, social & governance issues and corporate BB R A A R

governance development in the following manner:

Briefings and
updates on the roles
and responsibilities
of directors,
regulatory updates
of the Listing Rules,
environmental, social
Attended physical and governance
and online training issues, corporate
sessions arranged by governance
Name of Director HEHMW the Company development
B A R

> LR BB -
SmALT] BRE g RERE
HRER BURMEERER

& Mk F fE5 ¥k S B8 i
Executive directors: FfT#EH -
Mr. Chang Chih-Kai (Chairman) SR B (F ) v v
Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao (CEO) SRR E A (T ) v v/
Mr. Wang Jungang B id[FE v v
Independent non-executive directors: IR ITESE
Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai I B S A v v
Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence B AE S A v/ v
Mr. Tan Philip EIN e 4 v

ERXREBEEBRBERAIAN | ZDF_=ZFFH
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Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. During
the year, Mr. Chang Chih-Kai, an executive director, has
been the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao,
an executive director, has been the CEO. The relationship
among them is set out in the “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 22 to 24 of this annual report.

The Board has established three committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee, to assist it in overseeing
the Group’s affairs. Each committee has its defined and
written terms of reference setting out its duties, powers and
functions and being posted on the Company’s website and the
HKEXnews’s website. The board committees report regularly
to the Board on their decisions and recommendations and
they are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

The Audit Committee of the Board as at the date of this report
consists of the following directors:

Mr. Hon Ping Cho Independent non-executive director
Terence (Chairman)

Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai  Independent non-executive director

Mr. Tan Philip Independent non-executive director

The primary role and functions of the Audit Committee are
to assist the Board in reviewing the financial information
(including annual and half-yearly results) and reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems, and
the compliance with the applicable accounting principles
and practices, any applicable laws and the Listing Rules and
liaison with external auditors and internal auditors of the
Group.

During the financial year, two Audit Committee meetings
were held and the executive directors, management
and the independent auditors also attended to provide
necessary information. The Audit Committee considered
the audit service plan, terms of engagement and fees of the
independent auditors for the Board’s approval. It discussed
the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations.
It also reviewed the financial information of the Group
including the annual and interim financial statements, the
management letters and reports issued by the independent
auditor, and the reports on the matters of risk management
and internal control systems prepared by the internal audit
department.
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The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee was of the opinion that the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 comply with applicable accounting
standards and the Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures
have been made.

The Nomination Committee of the Board as at the date of this
report consists of the following directors:

Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai
(Chairman)

Mr. Hon Ping Cho
Terence

Mr. Tan Philip

Mr. Chang Chih-Kai

Independent non-executive director
Independent non-executive director

Independent non-executive director
Executive director

The Nomination Committee is responsible for recommending
suitable candidates to the Board for directorship, after
considering the independence and competence of the
nominees, to ensure that all nominations are fair and
transparent. The Nomination Committee reviews the
structure, size and composition (including skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board and assesses the independence
of the independent non-executive directors.

During the financial year, one Nomination Committee
meeting was held. The Nomination Committee reviewed
the policy for nomination of directors, the structure, size
and diversity of the Board, considered the independence of
independent non-executive directors and recommended the
re-appointment of retiring directors which were approved
by the shareholders of the Company at the annual general
meeting.

It is the policy of the Nomination Committee to adopt the
following procedure, process and criteria for selecting and
recommending candidates for directorships.
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The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and
recommend candidate(s) for directorships to the Board
by giving due consideration to a wide range of criteria,
having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board,
including but not limited to gender, age, experience, cultural
and educational background, expertise, skills and know-
how, sufficient time to effectively carry out their duties,
their services on other listed and non-listed companies
(if any, which should be limited to reasonable numbers),
qualifications including accomplishment and experience
in the relevant industries the Company’s business is
involved in, independence, reputation for integrity, potential
contributions that the individual(s) can bring to the Board
and commitment to enhance and maximise value for
shareholders.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board
for the appointment of a director in accordance with the
following procedure and process:

(a) Dby giving due consideration to the current composition
and size of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills,
perspectives and experience at the outset to focus the
search effort;

(b) consult any source it deems appropriate in identifying
or selecting suitable candidates, such as referrals from
existing directors, advertising, recommendations
from independent agency firms, and proposals from
shareholders of the Company, with due consideration
given to the criteria set out in the section titled
“Selection Criteria” above;

(c) adopt any process it deems appropriate in evaluating
the suitability of the candidates, such as interviews,
background checks, presentations and third-party
reference checks;

(d) upon considering a candidate suitable for the
directorship, the Nomination Committee will hold a
meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if
thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board
for appointment;

(e) make the recommendation to the Board in relation to the
proposed appointment and the proposed remuneration
package; and

(f) the Board will have the final authority on determining
the selection of nominees.
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The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seeks
to achieve board diversity through having due regard to a
number of diversity factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and education background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, in the
selection criteria in considering the appointment of new
directors. The Company will also take into account factors
relating to its own business model and specific needs from
time to time. The ultimate decision is based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises six
directors. Three of the directors are independent non-
executive directors, thereby promoting critical review and
control of the management process.

The Board currently has no female director. The Board would
continue to take initiatives to identify suitable candidates so
as to appoint at least one female director on the Board no later
than 31 December 2024. The Board will continue to adjust
the proportion of female members in the future if suitable
candidates are available.

The Board sets measurable objectives to implement the Board
Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to
time and at least once per year to ensure their appropriateness
and ascertain the progress made towards achieving those
objectives. The Nomination Committee will review the Board
Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness.

Gender diversity at workforce levels is disclosed in the
Company’s “Environmental, Social and Governance Report
2023”.

AN A RN E S G A Z LBk ([
HEWAZITLBUOR ) > B A S
HEFFE G N A Z T DR TR HE GOk
2Tk e

RFHEFGNEZ UL ER > AR AES
JEZAL I E R AR AR P
ZIHZ LR R > GFHEARRRER - 4
B~ SUAL R R SRR~ LT
R M B AR R EBER N A S
TeAb o AL TIN5 R A B S i S
Be RIS ) IR T R S8 B R o B A I AR 15 18
P YN I Y i)
AR P o

ARG HY > ERgHAKEFAM -
SRAERSBIEPATESR > e T
S A AL R 11 SR A A AT P

EHGH AL S o EE A
RIS Y (3 BN > UERBR %
“HWEF A=t -HEREED A LM
EFMAEREG - A GHAOMEN > E
I H AR A A R Lo B B Y LA

FEHEREHETHEBEAE UEEEREL
TeAb BOR Je A g ] % 55 B > I =04
A — Y ) DA e DR EL O T D e B 2 %
SFHBRMAE L 2R - R AT B e AR
Mt 7 S B £ Te L BUR DLk DR R A
AR

AN ER [ D AR AL LR R
Rk Pl ﬁf‘vﬂ%%ﬁ

ERBEBRBEEBRAMRAIF | ZF_=ZFFH

35



36

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
e SRR

The Remuneration Committee of the Board as the date of this
report consists of the following directors:

Mr. Tan Philip
(Chairman)

Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai  Independent non-executive director

Independent non-executive director

Mr. Hon Ping Cho Independent non-executive director
Terence
Mr. Chang Chih-Kai Executive director

The Company has adopted the model whereby the
Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages and terms of service
contracts of individual director (including executive director)
and senior management. The Remuneration Committee is
also responsible for making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for remuneration of
all directors of the Company and senior management of the
Group and other matters relating to remuneration, as well as
assessing the performance of the executive directors of the
Company and reviewing and/or approving matters relating
to share schemes described under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules. The remuneration of all directors is subject to regular
monitoring by the Remuneration Committee to ensure that
their remuneration and compensation are reasonable.

During the financial year, two Remuneration Committee
meetings were held, in which the policy for the remuneration
of executive directors and management was reviewed, the
performance of the executive directors and management
were assessed, and the remuneration packages of individual
directors and management were reviewed and considered.
Details of the remuneration paid/payable to individual
directors and senior management during the year under
review are set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

During the year under review, no share option was granted to
any of the directors and senior management of the Company.
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The attendance records of each of the directors at the board

meetings, board committee meetings, annual general meeting
(AGM) of the Company held during the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out in the table below:

WIE F S A=Ak
B AR R W
TGk - RO (R A
) 24 HH ST R BT

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

LE T 2e V& IT5-F Ve |
Audit ~ Nomination Remuneration

Board Committee Committee Committee AGM
Name of directors ERAH HHE  HRERG  REZHE  FMZRE BEEEXE
Executive directors: Hir#EE
Mr. Chang Chih-Kai (Chairman) RRE (FH) 6/6 - 11 22 111
Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao (CEO) RRELE (THER) 6/6 - - - 1
Mr. Wang Jungang FREEE 6/6 - - - 11
Independent non-executive directors: BLFHTESE
Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai H B e 506 22 11 22 111
Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence BN 6/6 212 11 22 11
Mr. Tan Philip 9N, it 6/6 22 11 22 1

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties of the Company. Terms of reference adopted by the
Board include the duties of the Board on corporate governance
functions to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices
on corporate governance, to review and monitor the training

and continuous professional development of the directors and
the senior management, to review and monitor the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to employees and directors, and
to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure

in this Corporate Governance Report.
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The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparing the financial statements of the Group. The Board,
supported by the financial controllers and the finance
department, is responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group. In the preparation of the
financial statements, the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and the Listing Rules have
been adopted, the appropriate accounting policies have
been consistently applied, and reasonable judgements and
estimates are properly made.

The Board aims to present a clear and balanced assessment
of the Group’s performance in the annual and interim
reports to shareholders, and make appropriate disclosure
and announcements in a timely manner. The directors are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, regarding their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on
pages 58 to 62 of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration
paid/payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers for the
provision of audit service was RMB1,707,000 (2022:
RMB1,807,000), and no non-audit services were provided
by PricewaterhouseCoopers (including any entity that is
under the common control, ownership or management with
the auditor or any entity that a reasonable and informed third
party having knowledge of all relevant information would
reasonably conclude as part of the auditor nationally or
internationally) during the year under review (2022: Same).

The Audit Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board as to the appointment, reappointment or removal
of the independent auditors. There was no disagreement
between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the independent
auditor of the Company.
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The Board is responsible for risk management (including
ESG risk) and internal control systems of the Group and for
reviewing its effectiveness. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Aimed at providing reasonable assurance against material
errors, losses or fraud, the Company has established risk
management procedures which comprise the following
process:

. Risk identification: identify major and significant risks
that could affect the achievement of goals of the Group;

. Risk evaluation and assessment: assess and evaluate
the identified risk according to its likely impact and the
likelihood of occurrence; and

. Risk management and mitigation: develop effective
control activities to mitigate the risks.

In particular, procedures have been designed for safeguarding
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensuring the
maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publication, and ensuring compliance of applicable laws,
rules and regulations.

Risk identification and assessment are performed or updated
annually, and the results of risk assessment, evaluation and
mitigation of each function or operation are recorded and
communicated to the Board and management for reviews.

An internal audit department has been established to conduct
risk management and internal audit of the Group. It performs
risk-based audits to review the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems so as to
provide assurance that key business and operational risks
are identified and managed. The work carried out by the
internal audit department reports to the Audit Committee
with its findings and makes recommendations at least twice
a year. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board
has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions.

The Company considers its risk management and internal
control systems effective and adequate.
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The Board has adopted a whistleblowing policy (the
“Whistleblowing Policy”). The purpose of the Whistleblowing
Policy is to (i) foster a culture of compliance, ethical behaviour
and good corporate governance across the Group; and (ii)
promote the importance of ethical behaviour and encourage
the reporting of misconduct, unlawful and unethical behavior.

The nature, status and the results of the complaints received
under the Whistleblowing Policy are reported to the chairman
of the Audit Committee or the human resource director
of the Group. No incident of fraud or misconduct that has
material effect on the Group’s financial statements or overall
operations for the year ended 31 December 2023 has been
discovered.

The Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed annually by the Audit
Committee to ensure its effectiveness.

The Board has adopted an anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-
corruption Policy”). The Group is committed to achieving
the highest standards of integrity and ethical behaviour in
conducting its business. The Anti-corruption Policy forms an
integral part of the Group’s corporate governance framework.
The Anti-corruption Policy sets out the specific behavioural
guidelines that the Group’s personnel and business partners
must follow to combat corruption. It demonstrates the
Group’s commitment to the practice of ethical business
conduct and the compliance of the anti-corruption laws and
regulations that apply to its local and foreign operations.
In line with this commitment and to ensure transparency in
the Group’s practices, the Anti-corruption Policy has been
prepared as a guide to all Group’s employees and third parties
dealing with the Group.

The Anti-corruption Policy is reviewed and updated
periodically to align with the applicable laws and regulations
as well as the industry best practice.
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The Group has in place a policy on disclosure of inside
information which sets out the procedures and internal
controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information.

The policy provides guidelines to the directors, officers
and all relevant employees of the Group to ensure proper
safeguards exist to prevent the Company from breaching the
statutory disclosure requirements. It also includes appropriate
internal control and reporting systems to identify and assess
potential inside information.

Key procedures in place include:

. defining the requirements of periodic financial and
operational reporting to the Board and company
secretary to enable them to assess inside information
and make timely disclosures, if necessary;

. controlling the access to inside information by
employees on a need-to-know basis, and safeguarding
the confidentiality of the inside information before it is
properly disclosed to public; and

. procedures of communicating with the Group’s
stakeholders, including shareholders, investors,
analysts, etc. in ways which are in compliance with the
Listing Rules.

The Group has also established and implemented procedures
to handle enquiries from external parties related to the market
rumours and other affairs of the Group.

To avoid uneven dissemination of inside information, the
dissemination of inside information of the Company shall
be conducted by publishing the relevant information on the
respective websites of the Company and the HKEXnews.

Mr. Cheung Chun Hay has joined the Group since 2007 and has
been the Company Secretary of the Company since December
2013. Mr. Cheung is currently also the vice president in finance of
the Group and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Cheung has duly
complied with the relevant professional training requirement under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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The Board recognises the importance of good communication
with its shareholders and investors. To ensure that
shareholders and potential investors are provided with ready,
equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company, the Company has
established several channels to communicate with the
shareholders as follows:

(a) the Company maintains website at “www.daphneholdings.com”
where information and updates on the Group’s business,
financial information, corporate governance practices and
other information are available to the public;

(b) other corporate communication such as annual reports,
interim reports and circulars are issued in printed
form and are available on the HKEXnews website
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website;

(c) periodic announcements are made through the Stock
Exchange and published on the respective websites of
the HKEXnews and the Company;

(d) annual and extraordinary general meetings provide
a forum for the shareholders to make comments
and exchange views with the directors and senior
management; and

(e) the Hong Kong branch share registrar of the Company
serves the shareholders in respect of share registration,
dividend payment and related matters.

Shareholders and investors may also address enquires to the
Company’s investor relations personnel by letter or email.
Contact information is listed on page 3 of this annual report.

The Company continues to enhance communication and
relationship with its shareholders and investors. The
Board designates personnel to maintain regular dialogue
with institutional investors and analysts through one-on-
one meetings, non-deal roadshows and investor briefings,
whenever necessary, to keep them informed of the Group’s
development.
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Directors (including non-executive directors) and the
external auditors also meet and communicate with
shareholders at the annual general meetings of the Company.
The Chairman proposes separate resolutions for each issue
to be considered and put each proposed resolution to the vote
by way of a poll. Voting results are posted on the websites of
the HKEXnews and the Company on the day of the annual
general meeting.

The Company considers its shareholders communication
policy implemented effectively.

There was no change in the memorandum and articles
of association of the Company during the year. These
constitutional documents are available on the websites of the
Company and the HKEXnews.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”). According to the Dividend Policy, in deciding
whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter alia,
the following factors:

(i) the general financial condition of the Group;

(ii) the Group’s actual and future operations and liquidity
position;

(iii) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans;

(iv) the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

(v) the retained profits and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the members of the Group;

(vi) the shareholders’ and the investors’ expectation and
industry’s norm;

(vii) the general market conditions; and
(viii)any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Dividends may be declared and paid to the shareholders of
the Company by way of cash or by other means that the Board
considers appropriate. The declaration and payment of a
dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the
Company’s articles of association and any other applicable
laws and regulations. The Board will continually review
the Dividend Policy and reserves the right in its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel
the Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy shall
in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the
Company in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way
obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or
from time to time.
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On behalf

Pursuant to article 58 of the articles of association of the
Company, the Board may whenever it thinks fit convene an
extraordinary general meeting. Any one or more shareholders
(the “requisitionist(s)”) holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition one-tenth or more of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition deposited at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong to the Board or the company
secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary general
meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition and to add resolutions
to a meeting agenda; and such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves
may convene a physical meeting at only one location, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There are no provisions under the Company’s articles of
association or the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands
regarding procedures for shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meetings other than a proposal of a
person for election as director. Shareholders may follow
the procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary
general meeting for any business specified in such written
requisition.

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the investor relations personnel
of the Company by letter or email. Details of the contact
information are set out on page 3 of this annual report.

of the board of directors

Chang Chih-Kai

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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The directors submit their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Group is principally engaged in licensing, distribution
and sale of footwear products and accessories in Mainland China.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by reportable
segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
is provided in the Chairman’s Statement, Management Discussion and
Analysis, Corporate Governance Report of this annual report, and the
Company’s “Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2023”.

As far as the board of directors is aware, the Group has complied with
the relevant laws and regulations that may cause a significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group in the event of a material breach
or non-compliance. During the year ended 31 December 2023, there was
no material breach nor non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.

A separate “Environmental, Social and Governance Report
2023” has also been published on the websites of the HKEXnews
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.daphneholdings.com) in
compliance with the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” as set out in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules.

The dividend policy of the Company is set out on page 43 of this annual
report.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at that date are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 136.

The board of directors recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK$0.01 per share (2022: Nil), totalling approximately
RMB17,526,000 (2022: Nil) in respect of the year ended 31 December
2023.

There were no arrangements under which any dividends are waived or
agreed to be waived by the shareholders of the Company.

There was no charitable and other donations made by the Group during
the year (2022: Nil).
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Movements in investment properties and property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in Notes 14 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively. The “Particulars of Major Investment
Properties” are set out on pages 6 to 7 of this annual report.

Movements of the share capital of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2023 are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to RMB329,230,000 (2022: RMB276,052,000). Movements
in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year under
review are set out in Notes 29 and 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

On 28 September 2023, the Company as purchaser, Great Pacific
Investments Ltd. (“Great Pacific”) as vendor and Yue Yuen Industrial
Holdings Limited (“Yue Yuen”), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 551) and the sole beneficial owner
of Great Pacific, as Great Pacific’s guarantor entered into a sale and
purchase agreement, pursuant to which (among other thing) Great
Pacific shall sell and the Company shall purchase approximately
40.04% of all issued shares in Full Pearl International Limited (“Full
Pearl”), whose subsidiaries were engaged in the business of distribution
and licensing of footwear products in Mainland China and trademarks
holding, for a cash consideration of RMB42,500,000 (the “Full Pearl
Transaction™).

Prior to the above transaction, Full Pearl was held as to approximately
40.04% by Great Pacific and approximately 59.96% by the Company.
As Great Pacific, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Yue Yuen, was a
substantial shareholder of Full Pearl which was in turn a non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, both Great Pacific and Yue Yuen
were connected persons of the Company at the subsidiary level, the
Full Pearl Transaction constituted a connected transaction under Rule
14A.25 of the Listing Rules.

Completion of the Full Pearl Transaction took place on 30 October
2023, upon which Full Pearl became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. Please refer to the announcements published by the Company
on 28 September 2023, 4 October 2023 and 30 October 2023 for further
details of the Full Pearl Transaction.

Save as to the Full Pearl Transaction, during the year ended 31
December 2023, there were no other connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of
the reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements.

Save as disclosed above, the related party transactions shown in Note
33 to the consolidated financial statements do not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions under the Listing
Rules.
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The Company issued 9.0% convertible notes denominated in
RMB with the aggregate principal amount of RMB25,300,000
on 14 October 2020 and a maturity of 3 years from the issue date
and can be converted into new ordinary shares in the Company at
the noteholder’s option at the conversion price of HK$0.221 per
share (the net conversion price was approximately HK$0.217 per
share). On 16 October 2023, the convertible notes matured and
were fully converted into 164,541,807 new ordinary shares issued
by the Company to Warrior Limited (the “CB Subscriber”), the
then sole holder of the convertible notes. For further details of
the above convertible notes, please refer to the announcements
of the Company dated 15 September 2020, 22 September 2020,
14 October 2020 and 16 October 2023. Details of the movement
of the convertible notes are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of the share options granted in prior years and current year
are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements and
“Share options scheme” section below.

On 16 October 2023, the Company allotted and issued 164,541,807
new ordinary shares of the Company to the CB Subscriber upon full
conversion of the convertible notes.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not issued any share or
debenture during the year ended 31 December 2023.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association and there is no restriction against such rights
under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 5 of this annual report.

Save that the Company allotted and issued 164,541,807 new shares
of the Company to Warrior Limited on 16 October 2023 upon full
conversion of the matured convertible notes issued by the Company
in October 2020, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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The directors of the Company during the year under review and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Chang Chih-Kai (Chairman)

Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wang Jungang

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai

Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence

Mr. Tan Philip

According to article 84(1) of the Company’s articles of association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting
at least once every three years.

Pursuant to article 84(1) of the Company’s articles of association, each
of Mr. Wang Jungang and Mr. Tan Philip will retire from office as
directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.
Mr. Wang and Mr. Tan, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election.

All the independent non-executive directors have confirmed their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and based
on such confirmations, the Company is of the opinion that the
independence status of the independent non-executive directors
remained intact for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Brief biographies of directors and senior management are set out on
pages 22 to 24 of this annual report.

The term of the directorship of each director is generally for a period
of three years unless either party gives one month written notice to the
other to terminate the letter of appointment before the expiry of the
existing term.

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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Details of the five highest paid individuals and the emoluments of the
directors and senior management of the Group are set out in Notes 13
and 34 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

No director has agreed to waive any of his emoluments for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

The Company’s remuneration policy comprises primarily a fixed
component (in the form of a base salary) and a variable component
(which includes discretionary bonus and other merit payments),
considering other factors such as their experience, level of
responsibility, individual performance, the performance of the Group
and general market conditions.

The Remuneration Committee will meet at least once for each year to
discuss remuneration related matters (including the remuneration of
the directors and senior management) and review the remunerations
policy of the Group. The Remuneration Committee will then make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of each
individual director and senior management.

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme in Hong Kong which
comply with the requirements under the Mandatory Provident Fund
(“MPF”) Schemes Ordinance. All assets under the schemes are held
separately from the Group under independently administrated funds.
Contributions to the MPF scheme follow the MPF Schemes Ordinance.
In Mainland China, the Group’s employees are members of a state-
managed retirement benefit plans operated by the Chinese government.
The Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China are required to contribute
a specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit plans is to make the specified contributions. As
at 31 December 2023 and 2022, except for voluntary contribution, no
forfeited contribution under the above-mentioned schemes is available
to reduce the contribution payable in future years.

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company’s subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and in which a director of
the Company and the director’s connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year under review.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023, there were no (i) contract
of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and a
controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries nor
(ii) any contracts of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries.

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of each
director and chief executive in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XYV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)), as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company:

BEFZ=FF A=+ —HIEFE > BEGOF
O R AT Ao B Ja > ) B A 2 ] 4 M S R AT Ao
B Ja8 2 B BT SE KA A 5 (i) 48 R R AT ] i B
O3 ) i AR 2 ) mCH AT Ao B Ja 2 ] R R S 9 A o
KREH -

B AT A E A H o AN AAREE S
BB B (75 25 B B Rl ]) 25352047 B 2 50
R Re ok > AN A& 3 e EEATELA B ARAF
I FLAHTR VA B ( 36 LR8I B 1 e ) [ 78 2 I 1
61 | BEXVER) 2 B A0 B AH B B 3 v 2 M 4 B TR A
ol MR A < JI) 0 AR A R ST A8 I 2 W g SR
=R/

T AR 25 RS B AR B e Ay 2 T

Number of Approximate

Number of underlying Total % of total

Name of directors Capacity shares held shares interests  issued shares

FoR e

A B BE i Ji& Gy H8R

HE A 5y Jiz 4 B H Jiz 4 B H Ha Aakk

Mr. Chang Chih-Kai Personal interests - 23,200,000 23,200,000 1.17
TR YL (PN

Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao Personal interests - 20,200,000 20,200,000 1.02
R &R i AHE %R

Mr. Wang Jungang Personal interests - 51,800,000 51,800,000 2.62
F AR RIS A (PN

Note:  These interests represented the interests in underlying shares of the Company WEFE © A2 A5 as 1518 T 0 2 R o v R 2 7K 28 a4 B ik

in respect of share options granted to the directors.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to
any director or chief executive of the Company, none of the directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) to be entered
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or (iii) as otherwise to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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The register of substantial shareholders required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO shows that as at 31 December 2023, the
Company had been notified of the following substantial shareholders’
interests and short positions, being 5% or more of the Company’s issued
share capital. These interests are in addition to those disclosed above in
respect of the directors and chief executive.

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company:

e A O AR B W S5 B ) E A0 1) 25336 2 B E T 2R
frE 2 ERBACECM R - R F = A
=+ —H > AR FCEME T 5 LR R
A (BIEA L A C AT BARSRE L, b)) o 255 fE 43
LA LA B B 5 A B 2 e AT BN B 2 Wi o

T AR F LAY B AR B e Ay 2 T

Approximate

Total % of total

Name of shareholders Capacity interests issued shares

#4628 AT

HE 42 i oy 48 %0

i 3 4 1 5y A [ifid:A

Lucky Earn International Ltd. Beneficial interests 527,442,915 (Note 1) 26.66
H 40 (Btzt—)

Warrior Limited Beneficial interests 329,456,045 (Note 2) 16.65
H 4 i (HtFt=)

Teresaeleven Inc. Interests of controlled corporation 329,456,045 (Note 2) 16.65
TR A 2 HEAR (HtFt=)

Ms. Quan Qizi Interests of controlled corporation 329,456,045 (Note 2) 16.65
a7t CECYNCIPA: £ (HtFt=)

Notes: W aE

1. Mr. Chang Chih-Kai, the chairman of the board of directors and an executive
director of the Company, and Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao, an executive director and
chief executive officer of the Company, and their two sisters have beneficial
interests of 26%, 26% and 24% each, respectively, in Lucky Earn International
Ltd., a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

2. Warrior Limited is wholly owned by Teresaeleven Inc., which in turn is wholly
owned by Ms. Quan Qizi. By virtue of the SFO, Teresaeleven Inc. and Ms. Quan
Qizi are deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company held by Warrior
Limited.

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company had
not been notified by any person of any interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which as recorded in the
register to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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On 25 May 2022, the Company terminated the share option scheme
which was adopted in 2013 (the “2013 Scheme”). Upon termination
of the 2013 Scheme, no further share options could be granted under
the 2013 Scheme but, in all other respects, the provisions of the 2013
Scheme shall remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect to
the exercise of any share options granted prior to the expiry of the 2013
Scheme.

As at the date of this report and 31 December 2023, the total number of
shares available for issue (based on options granted and not exercised)
pursuant to the 2013 Scheme is 129,450,000 shares, representing
approximately 6.54% of the issued share capital of the Company, and
131,050,000 shares, representing approximately 7.22% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at 1 January 2023.

On 25 May 2022, a new share option scheme (the “2022 Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders of the Company and adopted by the
Company. Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the 2022 Scheme
will remain in force for 10 years from the date of adoption (i.e. until 24
May 2032).

The purpose of the 2022 Scheme is to enable the Company to grant
options to eligible participants, including any full-time or part-time
employees, officers or directors (including any executive directors,
non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors) of
the Group (subject to approval by the Remuneration Committee) as
incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential contribution to
the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the 2022 Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not exceed 10% of the shares
of the Company in issue on 25 May 2022, being the date of approval
and adoption of the 2022 Scheme unless shareholders’ approval has
been obtained. The shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2022
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company at any time
shall not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time.
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The total number of options available for grant, hence shares
available for issue, under the 2022 Scheme is 181,405,662 which is
approximately 10%, 9.17% and 9.17% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and the date of this
report, respectively.

The total number of shares issuable under the 2022 Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company to each eligible participant
within any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of grant unless shareholders’ approval
has been obtained. Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their associates shall
be subject to prior approval by the independent non-executive directors
(excluding any independent non-executive director who is the grantee
of the share options). Share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company or any of
their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue
and with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, shall be subject to prior approval by shareholders of
the Company.

The vesting period of an option and the period within which the shares
must be taken up under an option shall be determined by the board of
directors and specified in the letter to the grantee, which may be varied
by the board of directors in accordance with the terms of the 2022
Scheme, provided that it shall not under any circumstances exceed
10 years from the date of grant of the relevant option. The board of
directors may, in its discretion, determine the time or period when the
right to exercise the options in respect of all or some of the options to be
vested.
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The offer of a grant of share options shall be accepted no later than 28
days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HKS$1 in total by the grantee.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the board of
directors and must not be less than the highest of:

(a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets on the date of grant;

(b) the average of the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(c¢) the nominal value of the shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote
at shareholders’ meetings.

As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the 2022 Scheme is
approximately 8.2 years.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no share option was granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed and there were no outstanding share
options under the 2022 Scheme as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, the total number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the 2013
Scheme was 129,450,000.
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Movements of the outstanding share options granted under the 2013
Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2023 are as follows:

éiaﬁ;?#_fﬁ“ H=1t—HILFE  RE-F

at BT T4 L A AT (1 T A e 5 B 15

ﬁ[IT :
Exercise Granted Cancelled Lapsed Exercised  Outstanding at
Dateof  priceper  Outstanding at during during during during 31 December
Grantees grant share 1 January 2023 the yea the year the year the year 2023 Exercisable period
e = e =t
B ~A-H FZAZ-R
KA fiHAH i WA LA LT LIPS ERHE W AT (g
(yyyy/mm/dd) HK$ (yyyy/mm/dd)
(/H/H) W (F/1/H)
(i) Executive directors #17% %
Mr. Chang Chih-Kai 2017/01725 0.70 6,000,000 - - - - 6,000,000 2017/01/25 - 2027/01/24
REGELE (Note 1) (#fiit—)
2021/1214 0.20 17,200,000 - - - - 17,200,000 2022/12/31-2031/12/13
(Note 2) (#fi7t=)
Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao 2017/01725 0.70 3,000,000 - - - - 3,000,000 2017/01/25-2027/01/24
REFLLE (Note 1) (#fiit—)
2021/1214 0.20 17,200,000 - - - - 17,200,000 2022/12/31-2031/12/13
(Note 2) (#fi7t=)
Mr. Wang Jungang 2021/12114 0.20 51,300,000 - - - - 51,300,000 2022/12/31-2031/12/13
TRALEE (Note 2) (#fi7t=)
(ii)  Employees [E5
In aggregate 2014/01/21 450 100,000 - - - - 100,000 2016/01/21 - 2024/01/20
A3t (Note 3) (#fi7t=)
In aggregate 2017/01/25 0.70 2,250,000 - - - - 2,250,000 2017/01/25 - 2027/01/24
A3t (Note 1) (#fiit—)
In aggregate 2021/12114 0.20 33,500,000 - - (1,600,000) - 31,900,000 2022/12/31-2031/12/13
A3t (Note 2) (#fi7t=)
131,050,000 - - (1,600,000) - 129,450,000
Notes: i
1. The share options shall vest one-third each year from the date of grant. 1. JHIRIEF 1204 0 g = — -
2. First 40% of the share options shall vest on 31 December 2022. The remaining 2. BA0R IR — 2 = 4 = H = — HE 8 - B
30% and 30% shall vest on 31 December 2023 and 2024 respectively, subject 30%R30%A5 It —FE 2 =R ZE I pgaEf = A—
to fulfillment and satisfaction of the Group’s targets for the years ending 31 H BRI - 1A BB R e B g e e —F A
December 2022, 2023 and 2024 respectively as determined by the Board. DR EAER CFE DA A = kAR AR
SE [ A B o
3. 100% of the share options shall vest after two years from the date of grant. 3. JEIRFE F 17 H1 H B 7l 77 % B B 100% -
4. The closing price per share immediately before the date of grant on 21 January — 4. B T — U4 —H —— H 2 H H B 57 B9 A BRI i7
2014 was HK$4.43. 16 44.434 7 -
5. The closing price per share immediately before the date of grant on 25 January 5. BER T —L4F—H 7 HIZH H GBI R TT
2017 was HK$0.69. 15 730.69i# 7C -
6. The closing price per share immediately before the date of grant on 14 6. RPE AR T —AE - A H EE B ETRE TT
December 2021 was HK$0.154. 18 250. 15435 7C »
R RBEBEERARAE | ZF = FF K
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Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year under review was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate
and none of the directors or their spouses or children under the age of
18 had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such right during the year.

Apart from the share option schemes of the Company as disclosed
above, at no time during the year under review was the Company, its
subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

Save as to the Full Pearl Transaction, the Group did not have any
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures for the year ended 31 December 2023.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s largest and five largest
customers accounted for approximately 35% and 84 %, respectively, of
the Group’s total revenue during the year.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest and
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 12% and 35%,
respectively, of the Group’s total purchases during the year.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders of the
Company, which to the knowledge of the directors owns 5% or more of
the Company’s share capital, had an interest in the Group’s five largest
customers and five largest suppliers.

The Group maintains good relationships with its employees and
certain policies have been implemented to ensure that its employees
are provided with competitive remuneration, good welfare benefits
and continuous professional training. The Group also maintains good
relationships with its customers, suppliers and subcontractors, without
whom the success in the Group’s operation would be at risk.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, save as disclosed in this

report, there were no material disputes between the Group and its
customers, suppliers, subcontractors and employees.
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None of the directors of the Company had any interest in any competing
business with the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

Pursuant to the articles of association, and subject to the applicable
laws and regulations, the directors and officers of the Group shall be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company from or against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty
in their offices. Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force
during the financial year and up to the date of this report. The Company
has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the directors of the Company throughout the year ended
31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float of more than 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital as required by the Listing Rules.

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.

Saved as disclosed in this report, there is no other important event
affecting the Group since 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report.

On behalf of the board of directors

Chang Chih-Kai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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To the Shareholders of Daphne International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

The consolidated financial statements of Daphne International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are
set out on pages 63 to 136, comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2023;

. the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

. the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

. the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to impairment of
certain investment properties.

Impairment of certain investment properties

Refer to Notes 2.3.6, 2.3.7, 4.2 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group’s investment properties were measured at cost and
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment. During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Group recognised impairment losses of RMB6,065,000 (2022:
RMB16,000,000) for certain investment properties. An external valuer
was engaged and involved in the impairment assessments to determine
the recoverable amounts of those investment properties using market
approach. The valuations are dependent on certain assumptions that
require significant management judgement, including expected unit
market price. We focused on this area due to the significance of the
balance and significant management judgement and estimates involved
in determinating recoverable amounts of those investment properties.

Our procedures in relation to management’s judgement and estimates
applied in assessing the impairment of certain investment properties
included:

. Understanding and evaluating relevant management’s controls
and processes relating to impairment of investment properties and
assessing the inherent risk of material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty and the judgement involved in
estimation of impairment of those investment properties;

. Evaluating the valuer’s competence, capabilities, independence
and objectivity;

. Reviewing the valuation report to assess the appropriateness of
methodology used;

. Comparing the assumptions disclosed in the valuation report to an
estimated range with reference to publicly available information;

. Involving our internal valuation expert to assess the valuation
methodology and the key assumptions used in the determination
of recoverable amounts of the investment properties with
impairments.

Based upon the above, we found that the key assumptions used by
management in the impairment assessment of certain investment
properties to be supportable by available evidence.

o] S 7 T 2 TR AR R A 199 S By

TE F A 2wt B AR
R o Mg s e IH R B I R

FAM AL 7 Tt ep ok 09 B s S R B T A

L/E IR RIEREN DI
T B W 3 B AR

B2 MAGEA MW ENE23.6 237 42514

AR WG Y ARG R AR T AR
Rt R ES R e FE =4+ A
=t —HIbEE EEESE TREY ERER
JE B N R %6,065,0000T (—F = 4F : AR
16,000,0007C) © &N Al {8 Fifi 22 8L T (B R4 - 7
R T35 07 12 i G2 v AR A G 2 0 AT i ) A o A
R IR R A5 T e B T A R ) B Y R K
A FE TE A B TSGR o FRAM BRI TE U SE B TS H
HesemER > UENEEZFREY N
Wi [ 4 % I 5 e K EEL R R B K R o

FRAM A Ak 7 T 45 ) 6 Bl (B D 1 A ) A LT

U S Al w9 AR P4
o TR KGR B
e AR
H S B T A LB

o FPAHE(ERT AR - RE

o AN EA > DLRRAS T O R R

o ORFARIER A P i R Y (BRI 2 T

B LA B0 A R
o RN NI EE RS

HEAT L

2
21
A ©

LW ESCE AR > FRAM RS A BUA R AL DA SRR B

B T 80 E ) SR AR Al BT A B R o

EXE B BEERARAE | DR _=ZFFR

YR EN
EAMBEWMENFT S EENETE - S HEHE
55 i 3% T L R AT R

Jig s 45 T ) S A B G A
5 I8 Al F A Bl E R B R R
S5 BUE W) SE WA AG IR B ) B A A R

J1 > B SLAE BB

P

EREEEREW RS
S L 15 ) 35 1Y T g T < R I G 1 D R

59



60

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
3 7 A% W e

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ms. Xu Yi Jing Vivian.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

ok WL AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # % ~ & =4+ A =+—H IL4FF

2023 2022
B =8 TR
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
R 51 AR5 PN e
(restated)
(R )
Revenue i g 5 262,644 172,093
Cost of sales P& A (131,259) (73,691)
Gross profit T 131,385 98,402
Other income HAbYA 6 59,631 47,413
Other losses — net HoAb s 18— F # 7 (12,430) (13,903)
Selling and distribution expenses B T A 8 B 52 (46,704) (26,627)
General and administrative expenses — % S A7 BB S (62,254) (63,594)
(Impairment loss)/reversal of impairment SRR (REEER)
loss on financial assets (B Js 48 138 ) (1,991) 731
Operating profit FeE gl 8 67,637 42,422
Finance costs S B A 9 (4,255) (4,577)
Share of profit of associates and JEAG T8 A R G E
a joint venture ZHEA 17,18 58 60
Profit before income tax Wk T 45 B iy 222 ) 63,440 37,905
Income tax expense Ji 15 B B 52 10 (568) (330)
Profit for the year AN LA 62,872 37,575
Attributable to: LLUF 2 77 HEN
Shareholders of the Company KN/ 62,435 37,136
Non-controlling interests T 42 1) v HE 4 437 439
62,872 37,575
Earnings per share, basic and diluted g i H AR e T 2 )
(RMB) (AR ) 11 0.034 0.021

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction

with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
A e I AR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # % ~ & =4+ A =+—H IL4FF

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARWT T PN
(restated)
()
Profit for the year S M 62872 37575
Other comprehensive income At 4 T AR
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: ] H 7 7 M #E i 19 E -
Exchange differences on translation of S A SE TS I A A Y
. [foreignoperations W ... %2 2884
Total comprehensive income for the year A A A THT U 5 A R 63,554 40,459
Attributable to: PR T HENG -
Shareholders of the Company BN/ 62,210 37,590
Non-controlling interests IE He 0 M 2 1,344 2,869
63,554 40,459

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be DA | %7 & 4 T Wi 4 2% 18 SRLAH B B 5 — OF B -
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

mOaRERRE

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 it —“Z =4+ _"HA=+—H

At At At
31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
RO O ROFECOE R SE A
+=A +=A —H
=+—H =1+—8 —H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
B &1 AR T ANR¥ET o8 YN
(restated) (restated)
é«« E ﬁ] z«< E ﬁ”
Non-current assets I By B
Investment properties ¢/ ES 14 394,464 426,629 442,255
Property, plant and equipment W2~ W Tk 15 2,734 2,018 15,314
Right-of-use assets i R 16 4,348 6,892 11,051
Interests in associates i R E/NE 17 1,099 1,041 981
Interest in a joint venture NGB 18 - - -
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, Sl 436,580 469,601
Current assets i B
Inventories T& 19 5,058 - -
Trade receivables 2 5 HE R K 20 3,271 11,387 6,254
Deposits, prepayments and other % 4 ~ TH AT ZIH )
receivables At R o R R 21 17,916 19,825 22,005
Financial assets at fair value A FREER A E G
through profit or loss Z & BB 22 21,312 30,687 -
Cash and cash equivalents e B &5 EY 23 366,273 279,639 185,903
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, S 341,538 214,162
Current liabilities b =
Trade payables B 5 e A IR K 24 37,153 31,329 3,357
Accrued charges and other JREST B ) R I At e A+t
payables 3K 25 35,809 32,988 38,340
Contract liabilities G H Ak 34,201 33,175 10,410
Convertible notes CEY €3 26 - 28,307 -
Lease liabilities L A 16 5,834 3,403 2,539
Current income tax liabilities R[4 T 15 B & £ 23,605 23,605 24,265
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, N 152807 78911
Non-current liabilities w8 AR
Convertible notes CIEZY S €3 26 - - 24,007
Lease liabilities AR 16 3,451 3,837 3,514
Deferred income tax liabilities IR IE BT A5 7 TE A 18 27 4,117 3,881 3,881
e - e 7s 31402
_Netcurrentassets ~ WEEESH 00000000000 277,228 188731 135251
Net assets & E 672,305 617,593 573,450
R RBEBEERARAE | ZF = FF K
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
M EEARE

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2023 it —“Z =4+ _"HA=+—H

At At At
31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
BRSO R F D R IF 4
+=H +=H —H
=+—H —~+—H —H
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Bt 51 ANR¥ET e YN BTH ANR#F ot
(restated) (restated)
(%8 E51)) (%8 T 3))
Equity attributable to Ji S M 4
shareholders HE 25
Share capital e A 28 175,202 160,663 160,663
Reserves fiti fh 29 492,882 369,297 328,023
668,084 529,960 488,686
Non-controlling interests I 47 ) P HE £ 4,221 87,633 84,764
Total equity A RE 47 672,305 617,593 573,450

FOREBCAZHEAEMBMECHEEFT N —F Y
EZA T NAMERCREREGEE -

The consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 136 were approved
by the board of directors on 26 March 2024 and were signed on its
behalf.

CHANG CHIH-KAI CHANG CHIH-CHIAO

R RE®
Director Director
HF HF

VA b &5 5  E f  E BEUAA BRI G — F B o

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction
with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
S50 HE o 5 B 3R
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # % ~ % =4+ " A=+—H L ¥

Attributable to shareholders

Jie 3R JEE A5 Non-
Share controlling
capital Reserves interests Total
e e 4
i A it fhi 1 i At
Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Mt AREBTE ARBTE ARWTL ARWTR

Al January 2022 (restated)  RoF oA [ GEESD 160,663 328023 84764 573450
Profit for the year A TN 4 A - 37,136 439 37,575
Currency translation differences [ Ji. 2 %A - 454 2,430 2,884
Total comprehensive income 1 W 45 AR - 37,590 2,869 40,459
Share option scheme: JEIRHEFH#] -

— Value of grantee services — R NIRBE A 29 - 3,684 - 3,684
Total transactions with B R 38 5)

_shareholders mE - 3684 - 3.684
At 31 December 2022 and 1 R-ZZZHF+ZA=1T—HK

___ January 2023 (restated) —F_=CACREES) dobae SRR WEORY . GneRh
Profit for the year AN = 62,435 437 62,872
Currency translation differences [ Ji. 2 %A - (225) 907 682

Total comprehensive income  EEW&RAH - 60 1344 63,554
Conversion of convertible notes & # ] 462 Jif & % 14,539 17,592 - 32,131

Changes in ownership interest in 5 B J& 2> 7 i) 7 6 RE 4 5 % B) i
a subsidiary without change of 7 ¥4 4 il #

control 5 36(iii) - 42,256 (84,756) (42,500)
Share option scheme: JERHER#] -
— Value of grantee services — SR N IR B A 29 - 1,527 - 1,527
Total transactions with R )
e S w1459 61,375 . (84,756) (8,842)
At 31 December 2023 R-FZ =+ ZA=+—H 175,202 492,882 4,221 672,305

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in DA I %24 1 25 55 B 2% 8 BLAR BA B 53— B B8 o -
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
HEBHSmeER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 # & — &~ =4+ H =+—H IL4E &

2023 2022
e =Y o S S
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5k ANRW Tt ANRHTIT
(restated)
(REH )
Operating activities REWD)
Cash generated from operations A 2 Ble 313) 116,224 121,297
Income tax paid B BT A5 (332) (990)
_Net cash generated from operating activities @HRBELZBE®R [ 15892 120307
Investing activities BEWH
Investment in financial assets at fair value A PFREEF ARG Z
through profit or loss S E E A E (31,804) (30,000)
Proceeds from redemption of financial assets [ [21 % A P {EEHFT A H £ 2
at fair value through profit or loss S Rl B 2 K 42,319 -
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment ff & W3 - W E KM (2,475) (974)
Proceeds from disposal of investment EREYEL
properties I 3K 31(ii) 1,780 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, MEWZE - BB A
plant and equipment Z K 31(i) 158 52
Bank interest received 2k SR A7 F B 7,840 4,571
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing & E#E 4L (T H) 2B &
metvites B s (26.351)
Financing activities & T B
Principal element of lease payments &A% Zzliﬁjﬁﬁl\ 4,814) (2,828)
Interest element of lease payments L& A 32 F B 4 (431) (277)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests 1T I F2E i PR RE 2 (42,500) -
_Netcashused in financing activities =~ MEERBFHZBE®® ) (3.105)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 31 4 K& Bl 4> % 8 ¥ 3% hn i 58 85,965 90,851
Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January R—H—HZ 88 RBEE%EEY 279,639 185,903
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes VE 4 55 B8)y 3 %% 669 2,885
Cash and cash equivalents as at R HA=+—H2Z28HE X
31 December HEFHY 23 366,273 279,639

The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read in
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Daphne International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged
in licensing, distribution and sale of footwear products and
accessories in Mainland China.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. The address of its registered office is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1- 1111,
Cayman Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), unless otherwise stated.

This note provides a list of the accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collectively includes all
applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss which is measured at
fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A o B 5 i o i
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JB 53 T4 A s Wk 5 28 S BT A PR m) Bl o AR A
2 ¥ it =R & 137 it Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
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Islands °
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A M EER S T A B 0E L 5 fF BB R R T BR T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f 13 B 285 R B R

The Group has applied the following new and amended
standards for the first time for their annual reporting
period commencing 1 January 2023:

Amendments to HKAS  Disclosure of Accounting
1 and HKFRS Practice Policies
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting

Estimates
Amendments to Deferred Tax Related to
HKAS 12 Assets and Liabilities
Arising from a Single
Transaction
Amendments to International Tax Reform -
HKAS 12 Pillar Two Model Rules
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
Amendments to Initial Application of
HKFRS 17 HKFRS 17 and HKFRS
9 — Comparative
Information

The adoption of the above new and amended standards
did not have any material impact on the Group’s
accounting policies.
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Certain amended standards and interpretations have
been published that are not yet effective for annual
period ended on 31 December 2023 and have not been
early adopted by the Group. These amended standards
and interpretations are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group in the current or future reporting
periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-
current and Non-
current Liabilities with

Covenants'
Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback'

Amendments to
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance
Arrangements'

Revised Hong Kong Presentation of

Interpretation 5 Financial Statements

— Classification by the

Borrower of a Term

Loan that Contains a

Repayment on Demand

Clause'

Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability?
HKAS 21

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution
of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture®

Effective for reporting period beginning on 1
January 2024

Effective for reporting period beginning on 1
January 2025

Effective for reporting period beginning on or
after a date to be determined
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During the year, the Group has changed its presentation
currency from Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) to RMB for the
preparation of its consolidated financial statements.

As the principal activities of the Group are mainly conducted
in Mainland China where the functional currencies of those
subsidiaries are RMB, the directors of the Company consider
that the change would result in a more relevant presentation
of the Group’s transactions in the consolidated financial
statements.

Following the change in presentation currency, the financial
information as previously reported has been retranslated
in accordance with the provisions in HKAS 8 “Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” and
HKAS 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates” as if RMB had always been the Group’s presentation
currency unless it is impracticable to do so.

Hence, the Group’s financial information as previously
reported has been re-translated using the procedures outlined
below:

. Assets and liabilities of foreign operations where the
functional currency is not RMB have been translated
into RMB at the relevant closing rates of exchange;

. Share capital, share premium and other reserves
denominated in HK$ have been translated at historical
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions;

. As for retained profits and currency translation reserve,
since it is impracticable to reproduce the financial
records before 1 January 1999, the directors of the
Company apply the change in presentation currency
prospectively from 1 January 1999. The retained profits
arising from the Group’s entities whose functional
currency was not RMB on 1 January 1999 were
translated into RMB at the closing rate of exchange on
31 December 1998. Profit and loss items since 1 January
1999 have been translated into RMB at the relevant
average rates of exchange. Differences arising from
the retranslation of the net assets are recognised in the
currency translation reserve.

In addition to the comparative information in respect of
the previous period provided in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group presents an additional consolidated
balance sheet as at 1 January 2022 due to the change
of presentation currency in accordance with HKAS 1
“Presentation of Financial Statements”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A o B 5 i o i

B B R A AR 2w B L P A I
BARBET A=+—H L2

subsidiaries are made up to 31 December. WE o

The consolidated financial statements including the
financial statements of the Company and all of its

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provided
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to former shareholders of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate
share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair values
at acquisition date, unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related
costs are expensed as incurred.
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Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred
and the fair value of non-controlling interest over
the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired,
the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with
the shareholders in their capacity as shareholders
of the subsidiary. The difference between fair
value of any consideration paid and the relevant
share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of
the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses
on disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount
for the purposes of subsequent accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amount previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recognised at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased
to recognise the investor’s share of the profit or
loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.
The Group’s investment in associates includes
goodwill identified on acquisition.
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If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced
but significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is
recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount
of the investment. When the Group’s share of
loss in an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
loss, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable that the investments in the associates
and joint arrangements are impaired. If this
is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate or joint
arrangement and its carrying value and recognises
the amount adjacent to “share of profit of
associates and a joint venture” in the consolidated
income statement.

Profit or loss resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associates are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.
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Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in
associates are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Under HKFRS 11, investments in joint arrangements
are classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures depending on the contractual rights
and obligations of each investor. The Group has
assessed the nature of its joint arrangements
and determined them to be joint ventures. Joint
ventures are accounted for using the equity
method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests
in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and
movements in other comprehensive income. When
the Group’s share of loss in a joint venture equals
or exceeds its interest in the joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint
venture), the Group does not recognise further
loss, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interests in the joint ventures.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the
joint ventures have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i R B

g > ) TSRV S i 2 s 1R
G U AR RN HERR o

AR 7 T B 5 A M S B 110
A E L P PRSP A LA
HN BN RGP BB E
B A E AR - AL E O RS
B R R PR
R AR o 3 E A S T
R AR o

Mg EatiEdais  ROoEMEL
HHE 53 00 2 8 B A (e 0 B AR o
B DU RR A 4R [ E AL WO AR 4R
di S Ho A 2 T i AR S D o W AR SR
VB A 5 A Ml 4R 4 Y B
HitaEhE s Ha (B EHE
LA EER G B BE
T — W A R )
AR F SIS T AR A R AR R BR
B AR AT B AR A B A A
A K o

AR B B A SE 2 I 2 B IR
S B AE T AR - DAAS S R
A ERE LD IR o R BUE R
IRT MR > B I a% 28 5 $2
MEEME B - SEREN
BRBRALRERC T2 > D
Tl R BELAS 4 [ bR A 1) O — B o



Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investments. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the executive directors of the
Company that make strategic decisions.

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s
functional currency.
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Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where
items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are generally
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

The results and financial position of all the Group’s
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

o assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

. income and expenses for each income
statement and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

. all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Currency translation differences arising
from foreign operations may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss; while currency
translation differences arising from non-foreign
operations are not reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a
joint venture that includes a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a
foreign operation), all of the currency translation
differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated currency translation
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.
For all other partial disposals (that is, reductions
in the Group’s ownership interest in associates
or joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repair and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs to their residual values, where appropriate,
over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms or
2 to 5 years, whichever
is shorter

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles S years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance
sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.3.7).

Gains or losses on disposals of property, plant and
equipment are the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
assets and are recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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Investment properties, comprising land and buildings,
are held for long-term rental yields or for capital
appreciation or both, and that are not occupied by the
Group.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including related transaction costs. After initial
recognition, the investment properties are stated at
historical costs less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment, if any.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the assets. Subsequent
expenditure is charged to the carrying amount of the
asset only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the property will flow to the
Group and the cost of the property can be measured
reliably. All other repair and maintenance costs are
expensed in the consolidated income statement during
the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method to write off the cost over the estimated useful
lives to their estimated residual values. Estimated useful
lives of land and buildings are from 20 to 50 years.

The residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The
carrying amounts of investment properties are reviewed
regularly. An investment property’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount if
the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.3.7).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined as the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amounts of the relevant investment properties
and are recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest level for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible
reversal of the impairment at each balance sheet date.

Finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost, calculated on the weighted
average basis. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less
applicable variable selling expenses.

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing components,
when they are recognised at fair value. The Group
holds the trade and other receivables with the objective
to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. See Note 3.1(iii) for further
information about the Group’s accounting for trade
and other receivables for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f 13 B 285 R B

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and
deposits held at call with banks with original maturities
of three months or less.

Income tax for the year comprises current and deferred
tax. Income tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the income tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the places
where the Group operates and generates taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
only to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between
the carrying amount and tax base of investments
in foreign operations where the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses with reference to a number of factors
including the Group’s operating results, individual
and market performance and directors’ discretion.
The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

The Group participates in various defined
contribution retirement schemes which are
established by governments or separately
administered funds. A defined contribution plan is
a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions to separately administered funds on
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations
to pay further contributions if the fund does not
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the current
and prior periods. The Group’s contributions are
recognised as employee benefits expense when
they are due and are reduced by contributions
forfeited by those employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.
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The Group operates an equity-settled share-based
compensation plan under which the Group receives
services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments (options) of the Group. The
fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised
as an expense. The total amount to be expensed
over the vesting period is determined by reference
to the fair value of the options granted, including
any market performance conditions and excluding
the impacts of any non-market service and
performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability, sales growth targets and retaining
employees over a specified period) as well as
any non-vesting conditions (for example, the
requirement for employees to save). Non-market
vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are expected to
vest. The total amount expensed is recognised
over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions
are to be satisfied. At each balance sheet date,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of
options that are expected to vest based on non-
marketing vesting conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision of original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital (at nominal value) and share premium when
the options are exercised.

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award
is recognised immediately. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and
designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new award
are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award.
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If an equity award is cancelled by forfeiture,
when the vesting conditions (other than market
conditions) have not been met, any expense
not yet recognised for that award, as at the date
of forfeiture, is treated as if it had never been
recognised. At the same time, any expense
previously recognised on such cancelled equity
awards is reversed from the accounts effective as at
the date of forfeiture.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options
is reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share.

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before the
normal retirement date, or whenever an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits at the earlier of the following dates:
(a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits; and (b) when the Group
recognises costs for a restructuring that is within
the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment
of termination benefits. In the case of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the
number of employees expected to accept the offer.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the
balance sheet date are discounted to their present
value.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

. those to be measured subsequently at fair
value through profit or loss; and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will be recorded in profit or loss. The Group
reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at
FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A o B 5 i o i

A0 L A B LR
A R

o RBBLA TR AR
B MUK

o IR MAE R -

SRR A 4 T A7 L 4 il
19 SEBS R RN B 3 9 5 Rl o

S LA B (A B A B - ik
i A0 B RT AR 22 b o HAE
A PO S Y S AR
PSR ALY > AR A R
EEAT HBT M o

SRR HRE SRS B
TERR > 22 5 H 1 B AR 4 [ R o
BEREZ B o [ 4R R IR
B4 8 2 RE R O B
o HLAS SR W T A REAE K
P8 43 JE Bk B [ R IR I o 4% 1L i
A RNERE -

B R U A
(A R Rl > IR R E
FE N IF 5 A E R AR R ([HE
NTEEFAERED - A EE
BB I WA R < A I 32
AR o $ENPE AR AR 1 &
R PR 28 o AR T I P i S8

EXEBEBEERARAIAGD | _F_=ZFFH

87



88

Subsequent measurement depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the assets. There are two
categories which the Group classifies its financial
assets:

. Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in “other income”
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in “other losses — net”, together
with foreign exchange gains or losses.

. FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss that is subsequently measured
at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within “other losses — net” in
the period in which it arises.

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its financial
assets carried at amortised cost and FVPL. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade and other receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires lifetime expected credit loss
to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3.1(iii) for further details.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs, net of tax, directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction
from the proceeds.
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Trade and other payables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding liabilities at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to the lease and non-lease components
based on their relative stand-alone prices. However,
for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee,
it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a single
lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from leases are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

. variable lease payments that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability.
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The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have
to pay to borrow the fund necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

. any initial direct costs; and
. restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with leases of low-value assets
are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise
office equipment.
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Rental income from operating leases where the Group
is a lessor is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the
lease term on the same basis as rental income.

Convertible notes that can be converted into equity
share capital at the option of the holder, where the
number of shares that would be issued on conversion
and the value of the consideration that would be
received do not vary, are accounted for as compound
financial instruments, which contain both a liability
component and an equity component.

At initial recognition the liability component of the
convertible notes is determined using market interest
rate for an equivalent non-convertible instrument. The
remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion
option as equity component. Transaction costs that
relate to the issue of the compound financial instrument
are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of proceeds.

The liability component is subsequently carried at
amortised cost, calculated using the effective interest
method, until extinguished on conversion or maturity.
The equity component is recognised in equity, net of
any tax effects, until either the convertible notes are
converted or redeemed.

If the convertible notes are converted, the relevant
equity component and the carrying amount of the
liability component at the time of conversion are
transferred to share capital and share premium for the
shares issued. If the convertible notes are redeemed, the
equity component is transferred to retained profits.

Dividend distribution to shareholders of the Company
is recognised as a liability in the Company’s and the
Group’s financial statements in the period in which the
dividends are approved by the board of directors and the
shareholders of the Company, where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Licensing fee income represents revenues
from franchisees. Revenue is recognised when
control of the Group’s authenticated products is
transferred to franchisees, being when the products
are delivered to the franchisees. Revenue is
presented net of credits granted to franchisees. No
element of financing is deemed present.

Rebates are awarded to franchisees based on
volume of products purchased. It is recognised as
a deduction of revenue and the receipts in respect
of which are deferred and recognised as contract
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

Sales are recognised when control of the products
has transferred, being when the products are
delivered to customers, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer
acceptance of the products.

The goods are often sold with sales discounts.
Revenue from these sales is recognised based
on the price specified in the contract, net of the
estimated discounts. No element of financing is
deemed present.

A contract liability is recognised if the measure of
the remaining performance obligation exceeds the
measure of the remaining rights to payments from
customers.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method. When a receivable
is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to
its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash
flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of
the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount
as interest income. Interest income on impaired loans is
recognised using the original effective interest rate.
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Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the balance sheet when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amount and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable
in the normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the
counterparty.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past
events and it is probable that an outflow of economic
resources will be required to settle the obligation; and
the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are
not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow of economic resources will
be required in settlement is determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with
respect to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligations using a pre-tax that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

Government subsidies are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the incentives
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with.

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing
the profit attributable to shareholders of the
Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the financial
year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used
in the determination of basic earnings per share to
take into account:

. the after income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares, and

. the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

The Group’s business activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: foreign exchange risk, cash flow interest rate
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effect on
the Group’s financial performance. The use of financial
derivatives to manage certain risk exposures should be
approved by the board of directors.

Foreign exchange risk arises from commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the Group’s entities to which they operate.
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk from
various currencies, primarily with respect to HKS.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular review of the Group’s net foreign
exchange exposures and the Group may use forward
foreign exchange contracts when significant fluctuation
in the relevant foreign currency is anticipated.

As at 31 December 2023, if the HK$ had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against the RMB with all other
variables held constant, the profit before income
tax for the year would have increased/decreased by
approximately RMB339,000 (2022: RMB646,000) as a
result of the translation of HK$ denominated cash and
cash equivalents, receivables and payables.
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The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly arising from its cash at bank which bears interest
at floating rates. As at 31 December 2023, if interest
rates on cash at bank had been 50 basis points higher/
lower with all other variables held constant, profit
before income tax for the year would have increased/
decreased RMB1,831,000 (2022: RMB1,398,000),
mainly as a result of higher/lower bank interest income.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables and bank deposits stated in the
consolidated balance sheet represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets. Licensing fee income received from
franchisees are collected in advance of transfers of
goods.

The majority of the Group’s trade and other receivables
arises from credit sales to trading customers. The Group
has policies in place to evaluate and monitor the credit
terms and payment history of its customers to ensure
recoverability of trade debts. The Group also reviews
the balance of trade receivables at each balance sheet
date to ensure that adequate provision for uncollectible
receivables is made.

Rental deposits are mainly placed with various
landlords in Mainland China and Hong Kong and are
due to refund upon the expiry of the tenancy agreements
and handover of the leased premises. The Group
considered that the expected credit loss was minimal.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, substantially all
the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are placed with
registered financial institutions located in Mainland
China and Hong Kong which are of acceptable credit
quality based on management’s assessment. The Group
has a policy to limit the credit exposure to any financial
institution and management does not expect any
significant loss arising from non-performance of these
counterparties.
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The Group has the following types of financial assets
that are subject to the expected credit loss model:

. Trade receivables
. Deposits and other receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach prescribed
in HKFRS 9 to measure expected credit losses which
uses a lifetime expected credit loss allowance for trade
receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on the ageing and shared credit
risk characteristics. The expected loss rates are based on
the payment profiles of sales over a period of 24 months
before 31 December 2023 and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within the period.
The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle
the receivables. On that basis, the lifetime expected
credit loss allowances as at 31 December 2023 were
determined as follows:
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RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARHTTC ARH T ARHT AR T ARH T
At31 December 2023 REBZZELZAZF-H
Gross carrying amount AR 3,080 - - 11,441 14,521
Loss allowance EERE - - - (11,250) (11,250
Expected credit loss rate ElEEERS 0% 0% 0% 98%
At31 December 2022 QY St Y|
(restated) Zt—H (EEH)
Gross carrying amount BIREHE 11,387 - - 11439 2826
Loss allowance ER - - - (11439) (11439)
Expected credit loss rate G EERR 0% 0% 0% 100%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A o B 5 i o i

The movements in loss allowance for trade receivables Z o IR S iR s
are as follows:
2023 2022
e =Y —Ez T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRWBT G ANR#F e
(restated)
(KEHE )
At 1 January w—H—H 11,439 15,378
Increase/(decrease) in loss allowance recognised 4[4 % 18 % iR A0
in profit or loss during the year MR R, () 2,114 (568)
Written off during the year N HRIE (2,303) (3,371)
At 31 December mrt—_HA=+—H 11,250 11,439

Other financial assets at amortised cost mainly include
deposits and other receivables. Management applies the
general approach and records either 12-month expected
credit loss or lifetime expected credit loss, depending on
whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase
in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured at its lifetime
expected credit loss.

As at 31 December 2023, the loss allowance balance for
expected credit loss assessed by management on other
receivables was RMB 10,551,000 (2022: RMB14,443,000),
written off as uncollectable was RMB3,769,000 (2022:
RMB398,000) and a credit of RMB123,000 (2022:
RMB163,000) was recognised in profit or loss during the
year.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the
impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified
impairment loss was determined to be immaterial as at
31 December 2023 and 2022.

b

: e

ljgl M(

e A B HL At A R
LA 2 4 J FCA B SOIR AR - A BT R
A — 7% > AR TR SRR A B0 46
i 8 LA AT 75 B 4 4%+ | A
TR 0 1R S A I U S S A
MR o il HE WSO AR 2 A £ S B ) 0 4 e
A0 DA SRR S > Rl R 4% KL 2 )
LUIERSY R g 4

MRoF =+ A=+—H, &H
JeB 0t At R A R R AT 100 TR AE A
182 s R 45 % 2 N R10,551,000
75 ( T A KR 14,443,000

A By 4 R 0 ) 2 i A N R
%3 769,0000C (& — 4 AR ¥
398,0007T) - K AF A 48 3 OREER F0
MR H123,00000 (& — T4E A
[ #163,0007T) ©

ik B B B S Y IR EAT B A
B s YE R BB OBk 2 BIE AL E > R
Fo TR R EES
H 2 C il Al 98 s 12010 A K o

AR E ] SR IS AR AR R
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Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of funding through
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to
meet operational needs.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
recorded a profit before income tax of approximately
RMB63,440,000. The Group also recorded net cash
generated from operating activities of RMB115,892,000.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of RMB366,273,000 that are expected to
readily generate cash inflows for managing liquidity
risk.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on
the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.
The undiscounted amounts of trade and other payables
disclosed are equal to their carrying amounts, as the
impact of discounting was not significant as at 31
December 2023.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i R B

AL ) LT O A
R0 2 B B T A R 3t o B
BB -

T B A S A O e R 1
BTN L {5 B 2 0 50 4 DL
BT -

HE_F-=F+_H=1+—HIE
AR AN S T B A BR BT A B AT &
# N R 63,440,0007T © 7 4 M IR Bk
B EEHELE S FHEANRT
115,892,0007C ° JA —F =4+ H
= H > AEEERAB A LB E
B9 N B %366,273,0007C - 78 W 3% %
B4 T Bl 4 S A ) 51 BiE RS 7 2E BL 4 T
A DA B B 4 R o

TRAENRASAAIEGHIW A ZH
3k 20 ] 9% 2 A0 R 2 D AL 2 A 4R )
AR T o 2RI L BRI R K
ERGBL B R - R S AR
H="1—H  wiRMHE2EILAE
K B ER ) B Ty B A B AT IR R
St 3R < B LR (AR ]

Between 1
Within 1 year and 5 years Total
—4EN —E AR Gt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TFE AR¥TRE AR¥TC
At 31 December 2023 R _-F =4+ "H=+—H
Trade payables B 5 REAT R 3K 37,153 - 37,153
Accrued charges and JE St R
other payables L Al R AT R R 18,577 = 18,577
Lease liabilities HEAMRE 6,116 3,539 9,655
61,846 3,539 65,385
At 31 December 2022 A ZF -4+ _H=1+—H
(restated) (&A1)
Trade payables 2 5 HE A R K 31,329 - 31,329
Accrued charges and JE =t I
other payables L Al AT R R 16,237 - 16,237
Lease liabilities HEAMR 3,696 3,944 7,640
Convertible notes A % i 32,131 - 32,131
83,393 3,944 87,337
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This section explains the judgements and estimates
made in determining the fair values of the financial
instruments that are recognised and measured at fair
value in the consolidated financial statements. To
provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs
used in determining fair value, the Group has classified

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A o B 5 i o i

A B R T 7E e E 7 BB R P U
PFAE A AERSAN G  S f TR A A
- (L IR I BR T 190 B AN A 5 o B
7 JIA W AE 4 S {8 (H 2 R Y W SR
P o ASE B < R T 20 2 € wt E T
HLE 9 =R A o 35f A 5% 1 6 4

its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed SR
under the accounting standards. An explanation of each
level follows underneath the table.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
B8 o B0
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Financial assets 4> il & N & ST NG & ST ANR#TFu
At 31 December 2023 R _F_=4F+_H=+—H
FVPL A FEEF A&
— Unlisted financial — AR 2
investments in FE LT EREE
certificates of (Mt 7E22)
deposit
(Note 22) - 21,312 -
At31 December 2022 A F_HF+H=+—H
(restated) (&8 F F1)
FVPL A FEEF A&
— Unlisted financial — AR 2
investment in I b4
wealth & (ffat22)
management
product (Note 22) - - 30,687

There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 during
the year.

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (e.g. publicly traded derivatives and
equity securities) is based on quoted market prices at
the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price
used for the financial assets is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (e.g. over—the—counter
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques
which maximise the use of observable market data and
rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair value of the
instruments are observable, the instruments are included
in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
on observable market data, the instruments are included in
level 3.

BEOOE e BB OB A R A A

AF AN A S — R R B A =
Z [ B RS

g ARG BTG A By 1 e TR
(a2 BR 22 55 B9 AT 2B ity R BORE RE 55 ) 19
O3 VR R S R A 3R B T 3 R
18 o 4l 1 T B R A A e
B - W T HAMHES —JE -

5 E R AE G BTG L SE 5 Y
TR (G35 ST AE ) B9 22 P8 R i )
(L 5l R > % 5 il e R M
JH AT B B T 2 MR > 3l T RE D
MO BB T B0 45 2 A BT o IR T
LI 2 B B BT 5 1) B A7 22 22 E0RHAR
JE B > IR TR ALE
& o

B AR THER T B E AL

SRR B R TG ER > A T A
WIIANLE =g -

S TS
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Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include:

. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar
instruments; or

. Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow
analysis, are used to determine fair value.

As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of the
certificates of deposit classified as level 2 financial
assets as their fair values are determined based on the
use of observable market data. As at 31 December 2022,
the fair value of the wealth management product was
based on the quote provided by a financial institute
with reference to the net asset values of the underlying
investments. The fair value was within level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy.

Details of the fair value of the investment properties are
disclosed in Note 14.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
as well as maximising returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, obtain new bank
loans or issue new shares.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a net cash (2022:
net cash) position, being the balances of cash and cash
equivalents which exceeded the aggregate carrying amounts
of convertible notes and lease liabilities of approximately
RMB356,988,000 (2022: RMB244,092,000).
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A A ) A T T R R A A
2 PR A e T B B v R (] i R
By 5 2 Bl 25 -

AR R B L R R Sl AR AR DA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal to the related actual result. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below.

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Judgement is required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are transactions and calculations during
the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the current and
deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to temporary differences
and tax losses are recognised when management considers
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
Deferred income tax liabilities on temporary differences
relating to undistributed profits of the Group’s subsidiaries
in Mainland China are recognised to the extent that profits
are expected to be distributed as the Company controls and
pre-determines the dividend policy of these subsidiaries
and management expects it is probable that profits will be
partly retained and not distributed from these subsidiaries
to their foreign holding companies in the foreseeable future.
Management reassesses its expectation at each balance sheet
date.

At each reporting date or whenever a change in circumstances
occurs, both internal and external sources of information are
considered to assess whether there is an indication that assets
are impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. If the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is
recognised to reduce the asset to its recoverable amount.

AR BIIE O 7 S5 MO 3 9T A 1
BN 2 BN A RA L 2 A - R
FFfl it 2 -

A% [ 3 R Al R R ARGER o s R E
WAFE - T A 2 G Rkl R D B B 2 B A
A TE] o A R IR N I AR B
T B A 2 R T (L 3 AR R 3 2 A R A
AR o

A G P ZE A AN A R E R 2 B AR - R
SE T 15 B 45 4 g ZELAE LE VB o W SERS
A 2 TR T 2 I B 2 28 5 Bt 3 -
el e 5 BB &5 R BLA0) 8 RO Bk AR > 2
RN R0 B AR e D M) 2 B OO e T A
BLIE A -

i 7 HELRE 2% 1 AT BE Hh BE AR R RRBL LA T
JH B R I 22 BB SE RS 4R > R 6 e Rl B
B I 2 OB T 18 A B 2 A P 15 BLIE
B o AR AR B 2t P B K BE B A R 2
EN I N I N 5 B
BN > MR R B B TR BLIH A
T8> DRIAS 2 ) AT 42 ) % T 5 ) S % 5 B B
A Z S BOR - P L MR S
) AE AT R A I PR B 0 M) 5 T AN 1) H
g SN B o R LA o A B RE I A5 A
H 7 AT HLH A

At FO B DUAT A I B B AR
B SN ACE KL LA RE AL KB AT B 8(E B
S fis L BUA BB & - AT U IR S B R
9 2 0 (B BB 2% D L AR R i A (B T
R R o i R 2 MR T (ELRS AT R
(e <5 > ) it ek (L s 48 LA SIS 7 el
7 HmT g e 4

EXREHBERERARLAIA | D2 _=ZFF#H
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The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected credit
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1(iii).

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expenses. These estimates
are based on current market conditions and the historical
experience of selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in customer
taste and competitor actions in response to industry cycles.
Management reassesses the estimation at each reporting
period.

The Group is principally engaged in licensing, distribution and sale
of footwear products and accessories in Mainland China.

Chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the
executive directors of the Company. Information reported to the
executive directors of the Company, for the purposes of resources
allocation and assessment of performance, focused specifically on
the revenue and the profit or loss of the Group as a whole. Hence,
the directors of the Company considered that the Group has only
one reportable segment.

The Group’s revenue is derived from external customers located
in Mainland China and most of the non-current assets of the Group
are located in Mainland China. Accordingly, no geographical
information is presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR oo AR ¥ET 7T
(restated)
(K E )
Licensing fee income AR A 103,623 81,032
Sales of goods B 159,021 91,061
262,644 172,093
The five largest customers accounted for approximately 84% BE-F =4+ A=+HILFEE > TE

(2022: 70%) of the revenue of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023. Revenue individually generated from the
following customers contributed more than 10% of the total
revenue of the Group:

LA S F A I 35 2984 % (& = T 4F 1 70%)

A BLR %5 AR A I i i 2 A S R i

HEZ10% -

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARWT 5 ANR¥ET T

(restated)

()

Customer A HEFA 91,863 24,215

Customer B %FB 48,932 47,626

Customer C %FcC 33,847  N/A*AE I *

Customer D %FD N/A#A 3 i 23,900
#* The revenue from the respective customers was less than 10% of the total * A H & KT g5 15 K JE B A w8 A E10% ©

revenue of the Group.

Contract liabilities pertain to the non-refundable advance payment
made by customers and rebates yet to be claimed by franchisees
which will be settled by goods only. There were no significant
changes in contract liabilities during the year ended 31 December
2023. The Group recognised the following liabilities related to
contracts with customers as at 31 December 2023:

RN R

B SO B A AT R 4 A R B
7 R B 2 A DL S A R A B o R
SERC TS A =S HIRERE
WM R E) o R T = A=+ —H

AAE ] AR DA T B KM B B0 B A

B H A

2023 2022

e Y o TR AR

RMB’000 RMB’000

ANR¥ T oo ANR¥T T

(restated)

(&R E A1)

Contract liabilities HFRAMR 34,201 33,175
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue recognised that BE - F_=FT_A=Z+—HILFE 5
was included in the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of ANFER A H BN C MR 2 AR
the year was RMB31,151,000 (2022: RMB 8,063,000). 31,151,0000C (=& — — 4+ AR #8,063,000

S Tl

Jo) °
AR A |

TR TS E R
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2023 2022

- =Y - S
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRW¥T 5 PN o
(restated)
(R EF)
Government subsidies (Note) R A B (K AE) 326 306
Gross rental income (Note 14) FH B U A KB (B 7E14) 46,025 37,938
Interest income FLE WA 7,840 4,571
Others FHoAy 5,440 4,598
59,631 47,413

Wit - #E = F =S T H = A H L FEE s BT
Sl 2 1 o B K 5 I 7 BT 1] A 2 A 2 R 2 A
FEOENT F BRGAT o 72 75 9 A 1 e W 7 S 2 e 22 16

Note: For the year ended 31 December 2023, government subsidies mainly
represented financial aids provided to the subsidiaries of the Company
by the local government in Mainland China. There were no unfulfilled

104

conditions or other contingencies attaching to these subsidies. 1 A il 2 Sk FIH -
2023 2022
DS =Y o SR
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ T oo ANRHTIT
(restated)
(RH )
Fair value gain on financial assets at FVPL A PEER A E 4 2 & Rl E
(Note 22) FE W) 23 TR AE W AR (it 22) 1,140 687
Gain/(Loss) on disposal of property, plant and B R TRk 2 ik
equipment %,/ (5 18) 157 9)
Impairment loss of certain investment properties #HTHREY ¥ B E R
(Note 14) (M7t 14) (6,065) (16,000)
Loss on disposal of investment properties LEREYEZ EE (7,192) -
Net exchange (loss)/gain T bd, (R 48) i 4 7 %8 (470) 1,419
(12,430) (13,903)
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Operating profit is stated after charging the following: BB T AR T H 45 5

2023 2022

S Y o e S,
RMB’000 RMB’000
YN & BT YN T
(restated)
(R F)
Auditors’ remuneration % B F T 4 1,957 1,806
Cost of inventories sold, net of provision BB A (FOBRFEAHE) 131,259 73,691
Depreciation of investment properties gL/ Lk 17,128 16,670
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W~ WE IR 1,083 2,719
Depreciation of right-of-use assets it P RE S R 4,625 2,619
Employee benefits expense (Note 13) 18 B A% A B 3 (M FE13) 42,815 38,791

Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment — #2& ~ i 5 S 3% 5 W (E &5 48
(Note 15) (Wtat15) 675 -
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets (Note 16) il T RE & (B R 18 (M At 16) 4,779 -
Marketing and promotion expenses T 35 S A 8 B 5 14,766 8,077
2023 2022
G- =Y b= S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AN RH T oo ANRHTT
(restated)
(REH )
Interest on convertible notes ] AR 25 A S 3,824 4,300
Interest on lease liabilities L& & RS 431 277
4,255 4,577
2023 2022
S =Y b= S
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR# T oo ANRMTT
(restated)
(REH )
Current income tax RIVIA o7 45 i 18 332 330
Deferred income tax (Note 27) R AE TS BLIE (JE27) 236 -
568 330
EERBBEBEEBRARAA | ZF _=ZFFH%
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The income tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate of
25% as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i R B

AR 1 R T 15 0 I 2 M 2 BT AR B [ 18 125 %
A B A FH AT i B AT

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

ANRWBT G PN

(restated)

(&R & §|J

Profit before income tax W Pir A5 5 i 482 ) 63,440 37,905
Income tax expense calculated at tax rate of 25% PA25% Pl 51 A 1 F)?/FE"F i BH 2 (15,860) (9,476)
Effects of different overseas tax rates AN TR Vi N B 21 g 22 (1,445) (1,682)

Income not subject to tax DR BBLITA 385 389
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes ANl S0 B S (4,306) (3,250)

Tax losses for which no deferred tax asset was R e R 00 A0E B I B 2 B

recognised &5 8 (3,022) (3,046)

Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses ) JH A 1 R AR 2 B R 24,010 17,800
Withholding taxes on royalties in Mainland China 7 F [B K [f (1) 2545 1 2% JE Bl (330) (330)
Others HoAt - (735)
Income tax expense AR B B 32 (568) (330)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5% (2022:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong,
except for the first HK$2,000,000 of qualified entity’s assessable
profit is calculated at 8.25%, which is in accordance with the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime. No provision for Hong Kong profits
tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements as the
Group did not have any assessable profit arising in Hong Kong
during the two years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Provision for China corporate income tax is calculated based on the
statutory tax rate of 25% (2022: 25%) on the assessable income of
each of the Group’s entities incorporated in China.

Pursuant to the China corporate income tax laws, 10% withholding
tax is levied on all foreign investors, except that only 5% is levied
for foreign investors which are tax residents incorporated in Hong
Kong, in respect of dividend distributions arising from a foreign
investment enterprise. Withholding tax on royalties at a reduced
rate of 7% (2022: 7%) by treaty is applied to the Group’s entities
incorporated in Hong Kong for royalties received or receivable, net
with value-added tax.
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Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to shareholders of RMB62,435,000 (2022:
RMB37,136,000) by the weighted average number of
1,849,669,780 (2022: 1,814,056,622) shares in issue for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Share options of the Company were not dilutive as the exercise
price of the share options exceeded the average market price of the
Company’s shares during the two years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022 and were excluded in the calculation of diluted earnings
per share. In addition, the computation of diluted earnings per
share for the year ended 31 December 2022 did not assume the
conversion of convertible notes since it would have an anti-dilutive
impact. Therefore, for each of the two years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022, basic and diluted earnings per share were the same.

The board of directors of the Company recommended the payment
of a final dividend of HK$0.01 per share in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil), totalling approximately
RMB17,526,000 (2022: Nil). The proposed final dividend is
subject to the approval of the shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. These consolidated financial
statements do not reflect the financial impact of this proposed final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Employee benefits expense, including directors’ emoluments,

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A o B 5 i o i

BREARBZFTIIRERE T _=F+_H
:+—E¢$F%%ﬁﬁﬁﬂAE%&%smo
JC(E A NRM37,136,0000T) BrAE 5%
17 ey 2 JnHEST- 15 81,849,669, 7808 ( — & —
fﬁ: 1,814,056,622/8%) 55 -

WE_F - HFRF=FT A= H
1k T A AF B > TR 75 B SBOHE 2 AT (A8 = R A W
e A7y B S 249 T A 5 AR 2 ) 2 M TR NI 0 4R
Fo AE w5 S o 8 M) O g BB o e > HHOR
WE_A - FF A= Hit@f“ﬂiﬁﬁ
PR A > R AT R R B
WA 25 8 T B AR R 2 S o L @iiﬁ
TR CEF L EFE T A= HIEWAE
A J3E A% A 1 A BB HE AR 2 0 L A ]

RAFEFEREIBRE T =4F+ A
= H LA R R R A R A 0.0 15 T (-
TR ) > AEFE AR M17,526,00000 (—
TR IR o BEAR MR E AR AN A
TR D R R AR R g A o ﬁt%%iﬁ%ﬁﬂx
BHEzMBEEERERE _F_=F1+_H
=+ H I FE A A A R W -

i B AR A B S (RIREH S 45

represents:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR oo AR Tt
(restated)
(KEE )
Salaries and allowances B S HEA 34,081 29,960
Discretionary bonus W15 fE AL 4,324 2,987
Defined contribution pension costs (Note (i)) FE BRI FOR IR & BUAS (W EG)) 2,883 2,160
Share-based payment expense VRS A5y 77 B 2 ASh B 2 1,527 3,684
42,815 38,791

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no BE_X-__FR_F_=41+2A

unvested benefit was utilised by the Group to reduce the level
of contributions. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, there
was no unvested benefit available to be utilised in future
years.

b

e el = | o Y RN Y T R B S
I 36 A A I3k o A AR R E
AR H = H o M R AR A B ]
I 0 o Bt B R 45
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The five highest paid individuals for the year include three
(2022: three) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis shown in Note 34. The emoluments of the remaining
two (2022: two) individuals are as follows:

ER A REFEMA LT =4 (0%
T =) R HN A o B O B R
340 HEFMA (ZF 4 W) A2
[ I

2023 2022

S Y o T
RMB’000 RMB’000
UNEL& BT ANR¥T T
(restated)
(RE )
Salaries and allowances B4 Sk 3,156 3,132
Discretionary bonus 117 18 AL 613 346
Defined contribution pension costs E FEALEOR R4 BUA 159 149
Share-based payment expense DA 5y 2 B 22 A 35 B S 246 592
4,174 4,219

Number of individuals
N

2023 2022

Emolument bands T <2 0 S5 RO . S
RMB1,000,001 to RMB 1,500,000 A B #51,000,001 76 % A K #1,500,0007C 1 1
RMB2,500,001 to RMB3,000,000 A B #52,500,001 76 % A K #3,000,0007C 1 1
2 2

No emoluments have been paid by the Group to the directors
or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office. No directors or the five highest paid individuals
waived or have agreed to waive any emolument during the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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A 1 T 5 R B

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRHTou ANRW¥TIT
(restated)
(R HE 1)
Cost A
At 1 January w—H—H 695,701 672,260
Disposal & (21,296) -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment AW - B KA - 16,192
Transfer from right-of-use assets O R A - 7,249
At 31 December R+ —H=+—H 674,405 695,701
Accumulated depreciation and impairment Ry S
At 1 January w—H—H 269,072 230,005
Impairment (D 6,065 16,000
Disposal e (12,324) -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment AW - B KA - 4,702
Transfer from right-of-use assets A R A - 1,695
Depreciation e 17,128 16,670
_.At31 December ] Wrt—A=t+—-80 2N 269,072
Net book value ERELE (N
At 31 December BRtZA=+—H 394,464 426,629
At 1 January w—H—H 426,629 442,255
The Group classifies cash outflows to acquire or construct A A 16 o5 i sl A R A ) S T P R
investment properties as investing cash flows and rental WA AREB SRR S RA S
inflows as operating cash flows. R E SR -

EXERBEEERARA>A | DF_=ZFFK|( 109
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The investment properties are leased to tenants under
operating leases with rental payments every 1-12 months.
Minimum lease payments receivable on non-cancellable

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i R B

BEYERBELEEAEHTHS > e
AL — 2 A A 80 ST o AR
A AR A R A Y R R AT R

operating leases of investment properties are as follows:

R r

2023 2022

RO kT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR F oo PN
(restated)

2«4 E §|J

Within 1 year —FR 39,962 41,004
Between 1 and 2 years — B AE 37,583 36,342
Between 2 and 3 years W2 A 19,956 34,701
Between 3 and 4 years =R YA 9,237 17,502
Between 4 and 5 years MY % AR 8,130 7,982
Later than 5 years FAERL B 16,773 21,917
131,641 159,448

The Group’s investment properties are located in Mainland
China. During the year ended 31 December 2023, certain
investment properties were leased to third parties and
generated rental income amounting to RMB46,025,000
(2022: RMB37,938,000). The rental income is included in
“other income” in the consolidated income statement. The
operating expenses relating to the investment properties
amounted to RMB27,074,000 (2022: RMB23,224,000),
which included depreciation expenses of approximately
RMB17,128,000 (2022: RMB16,670,000), were charged
to general and administrative expenses in the consolidated
income statement.

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregated fair values of
the Group’s investment properties were approximately
RMB713,377,000 (2022: RMB735,645,000). The investment
properties’ fair values were valued by Shanghai Zhengda
Assets Appraisal Company Limited (“Shanghai Zhengda”),
an independent professionally qualified valuer who holds
relevant professional qualifications registered in Mainland
China, and has relevant experience in respect of the
investment properties valued.
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AL E BB A PO - B E
EoEF TS HIREE AL
A THREMENMGE = B EL
N R #46,025,00000 (—F 4« AR¥
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R U g Fe T HAD YA | o B ) ZE A
B 2 £8P S A N R27,074,00000 (&
— A AR W23,224,00000) 0 Hod AR
AN H17,128,0000C (& — "4 AR
¥16,670,0007C) W 3T & B = > W5 A5 A
Wi 26 2 B — B M AT OB o

MWoZ - =FE A=t —H A&
MR EWENRGFTAFEELAANR
¥713,377,00000 (& = " 4F 0 KR
735,645,0007C) © ?ﬁ%%%“%f’fﬁ&hj
IEKEEMEARA A ([ EEIEX]D

FB L B 2E GRS SEAG Rl FRE R TE’J*H
[y -y T N = Sl = &
A AT 1 2E R A B A BR) 1R R



The valuations of the investment properties are derived
using (i) income approach by making references to the
rental income derived from existing tenancies; (ii) market
approach by referencing to the recent comparable sales
transactions available in the relevant property market; and
(iii) replacement cost approach by making references to the
cost of redeveloping and constructing the relevant property.
The fair values of the investment properties are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy as a level 3 fair value
measurement and are sensitive to changes in both observable
and unobservable inputs.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group observed that there were
indicators that certain investment properties might be subject
to risk of decline in value after performing preliminary
market price research of the investment properties. Detailed
impairment assessments were performed for investment
properties with impairment indicators with the assistance
from Shanghai Zhengda to determine the recoverable
amounts. The recoverable amounts were determined based on
fair value less costs of disposal. The valuation result indicated
that the recoverable amounts of certain investment properties
were lower than the carrying amounts. As a result, the Group
recognised an impairment loss of RMB6,065,000 (2022:
RMB16,000,000) in “other losses — net” for the year ended 31
December 2023.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques and the most
sensitive inputs used in the valuations of those investment

properties with impairments:

Valuation techniques

Significant unobservable inputs

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A o B 5 i o i

BEWENBHERAOBRALE 25 80E
AWMU A 5 ()5 > 25 HEY
EM G R AT LB E AR S 5 DL (i) E
BRAR T 25 T B A A B 2
[ R AR 1T A5 o A3 2 N B (AR
ST (B R A AP Bl B A 5 = 8 A B (T
o B ] A AR A AR A R B AL AR AR
B o

MRoFZ =A==+ —H > REELE
HEaY T IS ESNER > B
HAWMSENLE TREY E A EEE
TR R o £ I IE R BN > H g
BUA WE BF S 00 8 W S AT T REAN K
TEFEAN > DUAE E W]l [ s B o ATl e 4 3H
DL SPAE I 25 0 B AR M 45 > Al 4%
TR W TG W 2 ] i e A AR AR R
MRTH A4 - Rt > AREEBE L ==

o H =+ — B IR EE AT H Al ks iE -
b TR R E S 4R ) 196,065,000 70
(& 4 0 AR %16,000,0000T) ©

DA 2 J (52 ) il (L5 9l DA B 7E AT BLAEL F)
BEE W A (8 BT 9 o 2 U R 2
e

Range of unobservable inputs

il 18 35 1l K T A w852 0 R AWl B % R o 1
Market approach Expected unit market price (RMB/square meter) 32,900-36,890
ik FE A AT ER (KR P oK)

Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value — the higher
the expected unit market price, the higher the fair value.

TTﬁmmgﬂmA¥ﬁﬁ%%% A
LA T 3 R A AR o RSP (B o
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7 W05 R Wit R
Furniture,
Leasehold fixtures and
Buildings  improvements equipment ~ Motor vehicles Total
[N
e Il % B
L £ LBl Rkt Hi it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NS NS NS ARHF T INILE T
Cost R
At 1 January 2022 (restated) REZZZZHF—A—H (BHF) 16,192 1,787 12,761 1,899 32,639
Exchange adjustment SR - - 6 - 6
Additions "E - 533 441 - 974
Transfer to investment properties ERDRENE (16,192) - - - (16,192)
Disposals ik - - (1,630) (611) (2,241)
At31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 REFZZHEFZN
(restated) 0 =) e S
—A—H (BE5]) - 2,320 11,578 1,288 15,186
Exchange adjustment 52 % = = 1) = 1
Additions RE - 1,446 m 808 2475
Disposal s - = (431) (757) (1,188)
At31 December 2023 REFZZEFZA=+-H - 3,766 11,367 1,339 16472
Accumulated depreciation and impairment AR B R
At 1 January 2022 (restated) RZFZZHE—A—0 (HEF) 4702 606 10,188 1,829 17,325
Exchange adjustment 1 i 8 4 - - 6 - 6
Depreciation e - 555 2,155 9 2,719
Transfer to investment properties ERDRENE (4,702) - - - (4,702)
Disposals it - - (1,630) (550) (2,180)
At31 December 2022 and | January 2023 REEZZHEFZAZT-H
(restated) k-Z-=F—H—H
(&EF) - 1,161 10,719 1,288 13,168
Exchange adjustment EEW% = = (1) = 1
Depreciation il - 864 141 78 1,083
Impairment W - 675 - - 675
Disposals e - - (431) (756) (1,187)
At31 December 2023 REFZ=ZEFZA=1—0 - 2,700 10428 610 13,738
Net book value fRm i (e
At31 December 2023 REFZZEFZA=-H - 1,066 939 79 2734
At 31 December 2022 (restated) MNEZZETZH=TH
%%Eﬁ’] - 1,159 859 - 2,018

WER A NRE¥197,00000 (—F 4 AR
#4,0007C) M N\ R H886,0007T (& 7 T 4E ¢ A
R #2,715,00070) B4 Al 5T A S 8 K 4 85 B 2 DU
R — P R ATHBE % -

Depreciation expenses of approximately RMB197,000 (2022:
RMB4,000) and RMB886,000 (2022: RMB2,715,000) were
charged to selling and distribution expenses and general and
administrative expenses, respectively.
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The operation of certain directly-managed stores were loss making
during the year ended 31 December 2023. Management regards
each individual directly-managed store as a separate group of
cash generating units and carried out impairment assessment by
determining the recoverable amounts of the directly-managed
store assets which have impairment indicators. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less cost of disposal
and its value-in-use. Management considers that the recoverable
amount of the assets of the relevant directly-managed stores is
determined by value-in-use calculations using discounted cash
flow projections based on sales forecast prepared by management
with major assumptions including budgeted sales and gross profit,
revenue growth rates and discount rates.

Management estimated a recoverable amount of the directly-
managed store assets using a pre-tax discount rate of 17% which
reflects current market assessment of time value and the specific
risks relating to the directly-managed stores.

Based on the results of the assessment, impairment provisions
of RMB675,000 and RMB4,779,000 for property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets were recognised in selling and
distribution expenses during the year ended 31 December 2023.

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a
lessee.

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A o B 5 i o i

PEREF D =FT A= HIRER S A
THEENRS NS - SHESSRES
I 0 2% o S AR A B S A A FRLL o Sl
A 2R B B A O R Y TR AT BB
(B RTAlE o AT i [ < AR 45 S (BB 2
BB A SR B (B B o
8 Fh > R BR LB T A AT R [ A A A
Fﬁﬁ%ﬁ§%+§$ﬂ§ﬁ25@7 o P 0B (L B0 R i A

i i BB B T R M BB S R UME > £ '
& BB A TEUE B R B A Wi AR g R R A
S ER A o

BRI B R 7% 04 B B S B E
T[] R > R R A S TR I T 35 S ey ]
TRL(EL RO Al DA B BEL 4 5 A R ) o E Ja g o

WBFMAER #HE T =+ _H=1+—
HIEFEE > EfEma g AR TYwE-
W T S A L e e D RE T 7 11 (M A 4 20 T
£ N R ¥675,00000 f1 A B #54,779,0007C -

AR B 44 B A A S A R R A RO AR B N

() &S EEBMERERN S

2023 2022
G- =Y CE A
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ T 5T ANRWET T
(restated)
(REHF))
Right-of-use assets: & B
Buildings (S 4,348 6,892

During the year, addition and modification to the right-of-
use assets were RMBS5,812,000 (2022: RMB2,787,000) and
RMB1,059,000 (2022: RMB1,191,000), respectively.

b

AR T I BB RT Al B N
[} #5,812,00000 (= F = 44« ARW
2,787,0007C) K A K #1,059,0000C (— %
AR NRM1,191,0000T) ©
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(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet () WAEEEREARRERN S (4
(Continued)

2023 2022

- = St
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR F oo PN
(restated)

(R &)
Lease liabilities: HHE A -
Current pio ] 5,834 3,403
Non-current FE i) 3,451 3,837
9,285 7,240
(ii) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement (i) REEA U TR R MERR ) A%

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR oo NRWET T
(restated)
(&)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1 HE P T 4,625 2,619
Expense relating to short-term leases A TR AR 5 BH 32 - 724
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets i R R L (E s 4R 4,779 -
Interest on lease liabilities LB & A E 431 277

(iii) The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended 31

December 2023 was RMB5,245,000 (2022: RMB3,105,000).

(iv) The Group leases various offices, warehouses and stores. @iv)

Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of

approximately 1 to 4 years (2022: 2 to 4 years).

(v) Variable lease payments

Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

(v)

Some property leases contain variable payment terms that are

linked to sales generated from a store. For individual stores,

lease payments are on the basis of variable payment terms

with percentages ranging from 14% to 18% of sales. Variable

payment terms are used for a variety of reasons, including

minimising the fixed costs base for newly established stores.

Variable lease payments that depend on sales are recognised

in profit or loss in the period in which the condition that

triggers those payments occur.

(i) BE_F - =F+_H=1+—HIFE "

HNHEHENHSRE G55 AR
5,245,0007C (& — 4 AR 3,105,000
Jo) o

EN SN €A% NC o S |
ERFEEWREEY > m—EE (CF
TR WEDIAE) AR e

T8 A A R
#8436 5 BEL S il 5 L 4 1Y
T S ARG K o B A% - R A K

B s T A A RO SRR E S 149
iw%%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ ol ) T 588 ASF SRR AR

SRR A 2 A 8 5% Al 09 [ 2
m$%am¢m R A5 6 15 R e 22 11 ] A
L A A 7 % % S5 A B 0 e R R
IR EE AR S -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f 13 B 285 R B

(vi) Termination options (vi) #1bFHE BN
Termination options are included in a number of property AL K e A # R
leases across the Group. These terms are used to maximise FERE > DATE A 45 13 48 7 r ) 0 7 A BT
operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in TH] g R R 3 b 418 o 9 v 1) T A o AR
the Group’s operations. The majority of termination options FEA 00 R 43 ¢ 1k TR R SR AR T el AR A
held are exercisable only by the Group. BATf -

(vii) As at 31 December 2023, management carried out a review of i) BE _F _=F+_H=+—H, &g
the recoverable amounts of its property, plant and equipment B TS Tt DA B f ) RE & E 1Y
and right-of-use assets. Details of the impairment assessment A A AT TR o AR Y - MK
on the Group’s property, plant and equipment and right-of- [ B % 5 LA T A P RE A 1 W (LT A I
use assets are disclosed in Note 15. B 1S PR o

2023 2022
e Y o TR AR
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ T oo ANR¥T T
(restated)
(REHE )
At 1 January w—H—H 1,041 981
Share of profit JREAG 22 ) 58 60
At 31 December wt=A=+—H 1,099 1,041
Details of the associates as at 31 December 2023 are as follows: MRoE L ZFEFFAZ=Z+—H BEARZH
T
Place of incorporation Particulars of Interest held
Name and operation paid-up capital indirectly Principal activities
# Al I 982 3 B 5 3t B O 8% 2 AR ¥ 1% ek EE U E X
Hanjiang Dayong Shoe Material ~ China RMB5,457,000 30% Manufacture of shoe
Co., Ltd., Putian City H A B #5,457,00000 materials
TR VLK K RE B R
A BR2 7]
Hanjiang Jinxing Shoe Industrial ~ China US$4,900,000 30% Manufacture of
Co., Ltd., Putian City i 4,900,000 JC footwear products
TR R RA B3 B
EERBBEBEEBRARAA | ZF _=ZFFH%
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2023 2022
DS Y 2 —EFz T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRHTou ANRM¥TT
(restated)
(R HE 1)
At 1 January and 31 December w—H—HAktZHA=+—H -
Details of the joint venture as at 31 December 2023 are as follows: AR ZFETAZ—H A EMEZE
Eanr
Place of incorporation Particulars of Interest held
Name and operation paid-up capital indirectly Principal activities
+ Al M 92 3 B 5 4 3t B O30 JBE AR 3 1% ESHLEE FT R
Marlow House Asia Limited British Virgin Islands/ 2 shares of 50% Investment holding
Malaysia US$1 each e g3l
) xyid ) 2 M A i T (L
LY i 1E T &y
2023 2022
S Y o —EFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
N & BT N T
(restated)
(RE )
Finished goods B 5,058 -
The cost of inventories expensed and included in cost of sales IR AN R 840,000 (& — 4 - #) 1% >
amounted to RMB131,259,000 (2022: RMB73,691,000) after B4 B SO0 A B B A B A AR Ty N R
net of provision for inventories of RMB840,000 (2022: Nil). As 131,259,0007C (— % — — 4 : AR #73,691,000
at 31 December 2023, inventories are stated net of provisions of Jo) o MEEZF T A=+ —H o fUREBHE
RMB840,000 (2022: Nil). I BRI A7 B N R H0840,0000T (7 " 4F - M) o
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fr o A B H R B RE
2023 2022
ot Sl e

RMB’000 RMB’000

ANR¥T 6 ANR¥ET oo

(restated)

(ZEFE7)

Trade receivables & 5 B B 3K 14,521 22,826
Less: loss allowance (Note 3.1(iii)) W IR (M AE3.1GiD)) (11,250) (11,439)
Trade receivables — net B 5 U HE K — R AR 3,271 11,387

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of loss allowance,

g5 H I 2 B ) MEOIR AR (11 BR gl 1R 43¢

based on invoice date is as follows: ) BRES T AN T
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ Tt UNEY ST
(restated)
(% 51))
0 - 30 days 0%30H 2,187 9,966
31 - 60 days 31E60H 803 73
Over 60 days 60H LA I 281 1,348
3,271 11,387

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, net of loss allowance,
are denominated in RMB and approximate their fair value. The
Group generally allows a credit period of 30 to 60 days to its trade
customers.

§4 5 WG WSO K 1) BR AT L (B s PR S A) LIRS
W E S L (AR A o AR — efe T H

B 5 % F30£60 K15 &1 -

EXEBEBEERARAIAGD | _F_=ZFFH
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2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥T 6 ANR¥ET oo
(restated)
()

Value-added tax recoverable, AT i (e 35 o T
net of impairment loss (T3 s (E e 480 10,976 14,754
Deposits i 3,025 2,082
Rental receivables L4 ME SRR 1,429 756
Prepayments TEAT FIH 1,425 1,270
Others HoAty 1,061 963
17,916 19,825

Movements of the financial assets at FVPL are analysed as

follows:

2023 2022

I S e
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T o6 YN ST
(restated)

(%8 HF1)
At 1 January w—H—H 30,687 -
Purchase [ YN 31,804 30,000
Fair value gain BB AR 1,140 687
Redemption g (42,319) -
At 31 December ArZH=+—H 21,312 30,687

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group purchased
certain certificates of deposit from certain commercial banks in
Mainland China. The certificates of deposit are denominated in
RMB carrying fixed interest rate of 3.3%, 3.8% and 3.0% per
annum and their maturity dates are 26 November 2023, 8 January
2024 and 2 June 2026, respectively. One of the certificates of
deposit was redeemed upon its maturity on 26 November 2023.
Since the certificates of deposit can be traded any time before
maturity, thus, they are classified as current assets.

118 | Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

BE 2=+ H=1+—HIHEE » K%M
R R B K e T R AR AT AT TR BEAR R o
FE R BEAT B DN RS > BT IS e 4 R R
Oy A B 3.3% ~ 3.8% 143.0% - 1 H 2 H 4 Rl B
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The Group purchased the wealth management product offered and AR A R T AR Z ] M E i B ORI Y
managed by Hua Xia Wealth Management Co., Ltd. in Mainland B3 WA BR AT 2 4 A4 R A S Y S B A
China in March 2022. The principal amount is RMB30 million A A NREE30H B0 > sz M E & A9
and non-principal guaranteed with variable return. The unlisted PRAVEE IR - 329 LfREC R =% ==
investment was redeemed upon its maturity on 11 April 2023. P A A — H 3 H e e
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR# T oo ANR¥T T
(restated)
(REHE )
Cash at banks and in hand SRATAF 3 S F BB 366,273 279,639
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents are Bl B B4 A5 E W) 2 MR T (B DA T 51 6 W RHE
denominated in the following currencies:
2023 2022
G- =Y b= S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T oo N T T
(restated)
(REH )
RMB N R 331,284 235,022
HKS$ T 25,566 35,540
US$ EVw 9,423 9,077
366,273 279,639
RMB is not a freely convertible currency in the international NI N g B B A S = R NN 3
market. The remittance of RMB out of Mainland China is subject L v [ K e 28 2 v 1B IR A A 22 A T A8 o 5 H)
to the rules and regulations of exchange control promulgated by the FAEHLBR ] o
Chinese government.
As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents of MoZEZEAETZAZT—H AREBE K
RMB306,194,000 (2022: RMB215,724,000) were in the Mainland %@ N R 306,194,000 (& . "4
China. N H215,724,00070) A7 B % H R BE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i R B

PR P TR A R K B T A
Ty SRR o % 855 I B ) A

The carrying amounts of trade payables are considered to be the
same as their fair value due to their short-term in nature. The

120

ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as FRE A -
follows:
2023 2022
S Y o T
RMB’000 RMB’000
N & BT ANR¥T T
(restated)
(RE )
0-30 days 0%30H 34,788 29,115
31 -60 days 31260H 209 -
Over 60 days 60H A I 2,156 2,214
37,153 31,329
2023 2022
DS Y e S
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE  ARETL
(restated)
(Rg )
Deposits received 2R 9,174 11,243
Accrued charges REFE 2 9,050 4,515
Accrued employee benefits expense FEF R B A8 R BH S 8,076 6,644
Receipt in advance T O 7,016 7,453
Other tax payables L Al R A8 T 1,585 1,892
Others HoAt 908 1,241
35,809 32,988
The carrying amounts of accrued charges and other payables are H A A MR T 2 A R A R R
considered to be the same as their fair value due to their short-term IR TH (B A 25 B P (B (B AR ] o

in nature.
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On 14 October 2020, pursuant to a subscription agreement dated
14 September 2020 (the “Subscription Agreement”), the Company
issued unlisted and unsecured RMB denominated, HK$ settled
convertible notes due in October 2023 in an aggregate principal
amount of RMB25,300,000.

The terms of the convertible notes are summarised below:

(a) the convertible notes bear interest of 9.0% per annum on the
outstanding principal amount and the interest will be payable
upon redemption on maturity date or convertible into shares
upon conversion of the convertible notes;

(b) the convertible notes are convertible at the option of the
holder into fully paid ordinary shares on or after the issue date
of the convertible notes up to maturity date at a conversion
price of HK$0.221 per share, with fixed exchange rate at
HK$1 = RMBO0.8836 and subject to certain adjustments
pursuant to the terms of the Subscription Agreement;

(c) the convertible notes will be redeemed on maturity at a value
equal to the HK$ equivalent of the aggregate of 100% of the
outstanding RMB principal amount and all amounts accrued
thereon.

At the issuance of the convertible notes, a liability component
representing the 3-year 9.0% per annum straight debt and an equity
component representing the convertible option of HK$0.221 per
share were recognised at fair value.

On 16 October 2023, the convertible notes were matured and fully
converted into 164,541,807 ordinary shares of the Company.

Movements of the liability component of the convertible notes
during the year are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A o B 5 i o i

Mo TEEAHE - RERMA - —F
FEJLA MU H Z R (TR ER®D > AN
AT N R EEGHEN I oA 2 & =
A BN IE T AR A A B TR AR A
#H R N R #525,300,0000C o

T 0 B S e B A B T

(a) TR 5 2 O TR ] A e 4 47 1) 9.0
wH S IR I B30T B el IR S A > s
T A 40 T 4 A O B A 5 e A7

(b) WAER @ AT AR ERIH
1E > AT 45 B 68 25 T Rl RE A N R 4 4 A
9 120,22 195 T 4 70 4002 s o
E W 2 5 195 T 50 A\ R °0.88367T > MEZHAR
T SR Wh R e O AT 2 T R

(c) AT A 55065 1 B 30 B e AH 45 12 1009 % i
(] A B AR 4 B I A 5 M S A T AR 2 it
I %5 1 4 B 1] o

AT AR IR R I > BUAEERA (R 4% 4R 1) %R9.0
JEFHE 2 A IEIE) KRR A2 (B4 0221
W IT Z HBEHE) Ty 4 AP EE R

T =R N H o A B 2 2
e O R B A\ T)164,541,807 5 3 B o

AR BAESR 2 AR F N 2 BT

2023 2022

- =Y —Ez T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T 5 PN
(restated)
(FEHE )
At 1 January w—H—H 28,307 24,007
Accretion of interest ]S 8 H 3,824 4,300
Conversion 46 (32,131) -
At 31 December H+—H=1+—H = 28,307
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Deferred income tax is calculated on temporary differences under
the liability method using the applicable tax rates.

During the years ended 31 December 2023, deferred income
tax liabilities represent solely accelerated tax depreciation.
Movements in deferred income tax liabilities (prior to offsetting of

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i R B

0 A P15 B TELR B Ak ol B 2 R R T B
HEHE -

WE_L = A= HIREE S BT
Jie 759 B TH A ARAE AR I B 8 o IR T 4%
i JH B i (75 [A] — OBt W] 3% HE [ 2 45 BR 41K 85 /)

balances within the same taxation jurisdiction) are as follows: ZEET

2023 2022

S Y o - St
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRH T oo ANR¥T T
(restated)

(RE 5

At 1 January w—H—H 3,881 3,881
Charged to consolidated income statement ARG Gl R 236 -
At 31 December “t—_HA=+—H 4,117 3,881

The expiry of unrecognised tax losses as at 31 December 2023 is

REoFEZ AT A =ET o KRB

as follows: B Em g
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T oo NRWET T
(restated)
(R & F1))
Tax losses expiring in 5 years T AR A JiE 2 B I Js 1R 744,802 1,514,014
Tax losses without expiry date = B 2 BLIE s 48 117,195 108,085
861,997 1,622,099

As at 31 December 2023, the potential deferred income tax assets
in respect of the above unrecognised tax losses amounted to
RMB205,538,000 (2022: RMB396,338,000).

Deferred income tax liabilities of RMB3,732,000 (2022:
RMB715,000), in respect of unremitted earnings of
approximately RMB37,318,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB10,348,000), have not been recognised for the withholding
tax as the Group controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries
and has no plan for dividend remittance in foreseeable future.
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WoF =T A=+ —H o B R R
i TE s 80 AH B 2 VB A R AE T A5 Bl JE & B
25 N R ¥205,538,00000 (% — 4 AR
396,338,0007%) ©

b Y | N2 1) 5 /N B N R | X
AL R #63,732,0000C (—F " 4F 0 AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f 13 B 285 R B

2023 2022
o St - S
Number of Number of
ordinary shares Share capital  ordinary shares Share capital
¥ i i % H JBE A Egilie gl JBeA
Thousand HK$'000 Thousand HK$'000
Tk T#5 Tk T T
Ordinary shares of HKS0.10 3 %8 Ji & /£ 0. 109 70
each
Authorised: EE
At 1 January and w—H—H K
31 December +=ZA=+—H 10,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000 1,000,000
2023 2022
S Y RO
Number of Number of
ordinary shares Share capital  ordinary shares Share capital
¥l ik B H JBt A i A &S
Thousand RMB'000 Thousand RMB'000
Tk ANR¥ T T INCHL S T
(restated)
(%8 H 51])
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 % % it 4 0. 105 7©
each
Issued and fully paid: EEFEITRHE -
At 1 January w—H—H 1,814,057 160,663 1,814,057 160,663
Conversion of convertible I 1
notes i 164,542 14,539 - -
At 31 December BT ZA=1—H 1,978,599 175,202 1,814,057 160,663

On 16 October 2023, 164,541,807 shares in aggregate were issued,
at the conversion price of HK$0.221 per share, to convertible
notes holder upon the full conversion of convertible notes. As a
result, there was an increase in share capital and share premium
of approximately RMB14,539,000 and RMB17,592,000,

respectively.

REOOE UE OB OBROSER AR A

R AR AN H o R e 2 S
otk - DA AE A 20,22 17 T 7] v 6 A% 18 5 5
BN BT A 4164,541,807 A A4y o H L > AR AS
e RS43R4 1 i N B 14,539,000 78 & A R

#£17,592,0007C °

TR TS E R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i R B

Convertible ~ Share-based ~ Currency
Share Capital Merger  notes capital payment  translation  Statufory Retained
premmium reserve reserve reserve reserve Teserve Teserves profits Total
) TAREE NRpBER ‘ )
ROEE  BARE  ABRE O ERRE  HIBE ERRE  BERE REEA it
RMB'000  RMB'00O  RMBOOO ~ RMBOO0  RMB'0OOD0  RMB'00D  RMB'000  RMBOOO  RMB'000
ARETE  AREFL  ARMTT  ARRTT  ARETR  ARWTL  ARETL  ARETR  ARETX
{No(q(a)) (Notq (b)) (Notq (0)
Wit i) Kt
At 1 January 2022 (restated) PRERZZE-A-REEH) 1011 2554 M 5,700 2912 (40,631) 150,778 95,012 38003
Profit for the year ﬁmﬁﬂ - - - - - - - 37,136 37,136
Curency translation ifferences EizH - - - - - 454 - - 454
L e tatR S S S S . R DO 2.3
Share option scheme: Bl
- Value of grantee services ~REARHER - - - - 3684 - - - 3684
- Transfer upon lapse of share options - R - - - - (3) - - % -
 To s s R S o S S I S o 5
At31 December 2022 and | January 2023
e R WIS WM M e e e
Profitfor the year ERpl = - - - - - - 62435 02,435
Currency translation differences ERzH - - - = = (225) = 5 (229)
Toloopeiodeion SR S S S S oS . N L. )
Conversionof converble noes TR 159 - - ) - - - XN (!
Changes in ownership interestinasubsidiary — HE B2 A0 f G2 E)
without change of contrl TiREEE RS
(Note 36 i) (W23 i) . . = 5 . = 5 4,256 42,05
Dissolution of a subsidiary AR LA - - - - - (131) (166) bl =
Share option scheme: B
~Valu o grantee srvces “KEARHRE - - - - 15 - - - 15
~ Transfer upon lapseof share ptions - RERER AR - - - - (10) = = n -
Tl sicton il Mohen  ms o = e BN Wy 0 S O
At31 December 2023 RERZZRPZA= -8 128943 1,54 M - 8,018 (40,333) 150,612 U294 492,882
Notes: Mt Ft
(a)  The capital reserve mainly rjepresents the nominal amount of shares (1) AR B A 2 e — T L L AE ] R 02 1T
repurchased by the Company in 1999. 1 o
(b)  The merger reserve represents the difference between the aggregate , FOREN
nominal amount of the share capital of the subsidiaries at the date on (b) G DA OB 20 P A 2 PR 1 2 J A i
which the ired b . [E BB 2 Al RIZ— JL L 104 2 F] FEALF 75 100
'y were acquired by the Company and the nominal amount of the i P
share capital issued by the Company as consideration for the acquisition FCIREIT B 77/ AN I (EL Y 77 2 25 3 -
pursuant to the corporate reorganisation in 1995.
(c) As stipulated by regulations in Mainland China, the Company’s (c)  ARIEF A JE LA - A2 F] 8o A o 57 A 7

subsidiaries established and operated in Mainland China are required
to appropriate minimum 10% of their after-tax profit to the statutory
reserves and enterprise expansion fund, at rates determined by their
respective boards of directors. The statutory reserves can be utilised to
offset prior years’ losses or be utilised for the issuance of bonus shares,
whilst the enterprise expansion fund can be utilised for the development of
business operations. When the statutory reserves reach an amount equal
to 50% of the registered capital of the Company’s subsidiaries, further
appropriation is optional.

Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023

zWEﬁﬂﬁ#Eﬁﬁﬁﬂzf*w%ﬁAgfﬁ
RS FF R G  FEECH DI iy W 28 7] 45 1 2 #
%@Eiuﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%i—ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%
ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ& T 1 3 8 8 3 2 ] ] 1F 35 E T

B o [ [ i 2 2 A 23 ] [ B 2 vl i AR 50%
%’Wyﬁfﬁ%mo



The Company has adopted a new share option scheme on 25 May
2022 (the “2022 Scheme”) and will remain in force for 10 years
from the date of adoption. There were no options granted and no
outstanding share options under the 2022 Scheme.

The share options are generally valid for a period of ten years and
will lapse if the grantees leave the Group before the share options
are exercisable. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation
to repurchase or settle the share options in cash.

The share option scheme adopted in 2013 (the “2013 Scheme”)
was terminated on 25 May 2022 and no further option may be
granted. Any outstanding options granted prior to such termination
but not yet exercised at the time of termination shall continue to
be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms of the 2013
Scheme. Movements in the number of share options outstanding
and their weighted average exercise prices under the 2013 Scheme
are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A o B 5 i o i

ARFR % = AR T H R T —
B HE R 8 ([ =% = 4E 1)) 5 R A
RS 6 - BT o
SIGEEE A AT 0 O o

S JBOHE AT A — P A T A R RN T i A
HE T AT (1 S P A R A S I o M B 2K
B o A B B VA B E 35T DA B 4 i [
B R RE o

T AR BRAA Y S AR T ] ([ % = AR
#]) Eﬁ\:i‘—ﬁﬁﬂ THHAKIE WA
FHZ T HEICHE o MR T — =AFat R pes - #%
g i E e i ] \n\ﬁ:ﬂ%ﬁﬂ% (7 9 AL AT
S PSS A AT A ELFT DAAT A o MR % — =
AEREE] > 1 ORAT A R B R L - 2
FTOEE R B OL T

2023 2022
SEBEE e St
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price  share options  exercise price  share options
HHE -1 TIHEF- 1)
T WREHRA IfE MR
HK$ Thousand HK$ Thousand
biEozn T i T
At 1 January w—H—H 0.25 131,050 0.25 132,650
Granted during the year N - = 0.20 2,000
Lapsed during the year AE N R 0.20 (1,600) 0.20 (3,600)
At 31 December WA =+—H 0.25 129,450 0.25 131,050
Exercisable at 31 December ~ J& 1+ = H =+ —H A {7{#i 0.26 94,020 0.30 59,230
EEREBERERLART | CF_=ZE5RK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i R B

T A ORI R AT (o 2 B HE B 3130 B R AT {3

expiry dates and exercise prices: I

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following

Number of share options

Ji I M 0 H
Exercise Price 2023 2022
A7 i 1 “RIZE -
Grant date Expiry date HK$ Thousand Thousand
BiliH FHH T T T
21 January 2014 20 January 2024 4.50 100 100
“E-NE—-H A+ —H “ECNE—~H+H
25 January 2017 24 January 2027 0.70 11,250 11,250
T T e o “ECEFE—-HAHMA
14 December 2021 13 December 2031 0.20 118,100 119,700
—E -+ A+IH R =T ZA+T=ER
129,450 131,050

Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at year end (years)
A A i) A AT (0 T HEE 1 o B - 14 00 i 1 0 T R () 7.53 8.53

BEZEZ -+ H =1+ —H I EEER
REA I 04 DL 00y s St 2 A5 s B S B 4 N R
1,527,0000C (=& — 4 : AR%3,684,0007C) °

The share-based payment expense incurred for the year ended
31 December 2023 was approximately RMB1,527,000 (2022:
RMB3,684,000) in relation to share options.

WE-F =+ A=+ H I FEREER
B S HE o

No share option granted during the year ended 31 December 2023.

5T P AR P TR DR T

The model inputs for the share options granted are as follows:

Grant date &4 e 14 December 2021 25 January 2017 21 January 2014
TR TR T4

+ZA+mH —AZ+HA —H=+—H

Exercise price 1T {E1E HK$0.20 HK$0.70 HK$4.50
0.20¥5 7t 0.70% 75 4.50% 70

Expiry date FHH 13 December 2031 24 January 2027 20 January 2024
+ZA+=H #H_WLEIEI *H;ﬂ“EI

Weighted average share price TIHE - 12 I A5 HK$0.16 HK$0.69 HK$4.49
0.16¥ 7t 0.69¥5 75 4.49% 70

Expected price volatility I A U B 56.39% 45.75% 44.22%
Expected dividend yield TEHA B Bk 5 % 0.94% 2.31% 2.05%
Risk-free interest rate i B ) 1.48% 0.96% 1.46%

126

Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f 13 B 285 R B

(i) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash generated () BRI A5 B A 2 ) B A 2 B 2 BHIR
from operations is as follows: ey
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
YN & BT YN T
(restated)
(R F)
Profit before income tax Wk BT 45 T 281 A 63,440 37,905
Adjustments for: VE W5 % .
Depreciation of investment properties gL E g 17,128 16,670
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W~ WE BT 1,083 2,719
Depreciation of right-of-use assets il R 4,625 2,619
Impairment loss of certain investment properties  #7 1 £ & ¥ 2 Wk (B 5 18 6,065 16,000
Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment 2 ~ W5 S 5% o (8 s 18 675 -
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets i R R (B s 4R 4,779 -
Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss) on 4 Bl % /& s (B k518,
financial assets (U8 L M 488 [ ) 1,991 (731)
Provision for inventories 1E & A 840 -
Fair value gain of financial assets N R (A FE A 2 AY B
at FVPL B 2 A (1,140) (687)
Loss on disposal of investment properties LR EYENER 7,192 -
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and Y - E Kk
equipment (W 4s) /e 48 157) 9
Share of profit of associates and FEAEBE AT R EEMEZ
a joint venture B (58) (60)
Finance costs AHS A 4,255 4,577
Interest income R WA (7,840) (4,571)
Share-based payment expense VRS A0y 70 5 2 ASh B 2 1,527 3,684
Operating cash flows before working capital RS BB E
changes i = 104,405 78,134
Increase in inventories &8 (5,898) -
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables, deposits, & 7 FEUCIRZ ~ ¥4 ~ TEAT
prepayments and other VA T At 1 i MR 3R
receivables W () 8,032 (2,222)
Increase in trade payables, accrued charges, other % 5 MEAT IR 3K - MEFT 22 A ~
payables and contract A B AT R 3K % G 4 B
liabilities 4 9,685 45,385
Cash generated from operations A 2 Bl 116,224 121,297
EERBBEBEEBRARAA | ZF _=ZFFH%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i R B

(ii) In the consolidated statement of cash flow statement, (i) NERHERERN  HWEREWELY
¥ W5 B AR SCR T B IR T

proceeds from disposal of investment properties and
property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows:

2023 2022
e =Y - S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR F oo PN
(restated)
(R &)
Proceeds from disposals B 2 K
— Investment properties —REWE 1,780 -
— Property, plant and equipment L /E BN & T ] 158 52
Net book amount R 17 V% (B
— Investment properties (Note 14) — B EYE (M iE14) (8,972) -
— Property, plant and equipment S /ERN N ET
(Note 15) (Ht7E15) 1) (61)
Loss on disposal of investment properties L EREYERYE -
and property, plant and equipment — net Wi B Ak 2 e 5
(Note 7) TR (M aE7) (7,035) 9)
(iii) Net cash reconciliation (iil) & EIE
This section sets out an analysis and the movements of net eI R IRE R E 1 I
cash.
Cash and
Lease Convertible cash
liabilities notes equivalents Total
B4k ‘
MEAR  TEREEF  HE%ED ait
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBETFE  ARETFT  AR¥ETT ARETR
At 1 January 2022 (restated) 2 JS::% H—H (BE5]) (6,053) (24,007 185,903 155,843
Cash flows RaiE 3,105 - 90,851 93,956
Non-cash movement EB e BT
- Additions - (2.787) - - (2,787)
- Lease modification -MEBT (1,191 - - (1,191)
— Interest of lease liabilities ~-HEAREHE 277) - - 277
~ Imputed interest of convertible notes ~ — 1] # (i £ 5771 & - (4,300) - (4,300)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes e 5 ) iy 2 (37) - 2,885 2,848
At 31 December 2022 and REEZZHETZA=T-AR
1 January 2023 (restated) CECEF-H—H (BE5) (7,240) (28,307) 279,639 244,092
Cash flows Bl i & 5,45 - 85,965 91,210
Non-cash movement EBlaEE)
- Additions =3 (5,812) - - (5,812)
— Lease modification -MEBT (1,059) = = (1,059)
~ Interest of lease liabilities -HEAERMNS 431 - - (431)
— Imputed interest of convertible notes ~ — A 4 i i 7 £ & A1 B - (3,824 - (3,824)
— Conversion of convertible notes — Yt 5 2 = 32,131 = 32,131
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [ 5 ) iy 2 12 - 669 681
At 31 December 2023 WEEZZETZAZT—H (9,285) - 366,273 356,988
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f 13 B 285 R B

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR oo AR ¥ET 7T
(restated)
(K HE2)
Financial assets at amortised cost: LA £ 5 AR G A2 0 8
Trade receivables T I A T 3 3,271 11,387
Deposits and other receivables excluding iz 4 e JF At B AT R K
non-financial assets (A B4 JF 4 & ) 5,515 3,787
Cash and cash equivalents Bl RBL G B 366,273 279,639
Total At 375,059 294,813
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: LI A WA 7419 2 A
Trade payables B 5 REAF R AK 37,153 31,329
Accrued charges and other payables excluding R T A R At IR AT MR R
non-financial liabilities (AN 4E JF B ) 18,577 16,237
Lease liabilities 8 A 9,285 7,240
Convertible notes A 6 At 25 - 28,307
Total Mk 65,015 83,113

The Group did not have any related party transactions during
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

Remunerations for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid/payable to the directors of the

Company, are as follows:

WE_X =+ A=+t—HILFE

AR 1Sl AT A B B T e o (A

o IE) o

ALEEEERARZHM (BN
AR RIS 2 F00H) IF

2023 2022
e Y -
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR ¥ET o6 ANR#F ot
(restated)
(&A1)
Salaries and allowances 4 S 7,861 6,856
Discretionary bonus iy 15 € 41 1,098 1,150
Retirement benefits cost AR AR I A 60 56
Share-based payment expense DA RS Ay 5 B 22 A5 3K Bl 32 1,085 2,603
10,104 10,665
EERBBEEBRARALAG | ZFE_=FF#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 1 T 5 R B R

Salaries and Discretionary Retirement Share-based
Fees allowances honus benefits cost payment expense Total
HRhA
g Ha Rk Tttt BiwAAE  ERZHRAX it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AT ARH 7 ARB 7 ARB T ARB 7 ARE 7
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
i) Wiy
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE -3 =8+ -A=1—H
L
Mr Chang ChihKai (Chaiman) ~— REHSIRE () - 384 54 16 m 4380
M. Chang Chih-Chizo (CEO) REERL (FHER) - 2751 59 16 biij 3578
Mr. Wang Jungang ThRAELE - 561 - B 651 140
Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai fifclipicd 13 - - - - 13
Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence B 36 - - - - 36
M. Tan Philp HRHE 8 - - - - 25
706 1155 1,098 60 1,085 10,104
Forthe year ended 31 December 202 #E-F - "+ A=1—H
(testated) LR (EEF)
Mr. Chang Chi-Kai (Chaiman) 8515 (£ - 338 10 16 519 458
M. Chang Chi-Chizo (CEO) FEERL(FHER) - 7% i 16 519 374
Mz, Wang Jungang TS - 66 7 i 1,365 1,663
Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai ks 19 - - - - 19
Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence B 3l - - - - 3l
Mr. Tan Philp HRHEE W - - - - 0
677 6,78 1,150 5 2,603 10,665
Notes: Yooz
(a)  The emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the Company (a)  ENEHEN AR 2 A 2 2 7 R 15 g
were in respect of their respective services as a director of the K43 ] 2 H i 2 7 2 (2 A B R
Company or its subsidiaries.
(b)  The emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the Company (b) B ATEGENS AL ] 3 2 [ 7 R IE 1% 5 R
were in respect of directors’ other services in connection with PRI 2\ ) 2 B 2 A 5 i 4 R Al
the management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiary HRF -

undertakings.
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For each of the two years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
no termination benefit was paid or payable to any director of
the Company. No consideration was paid or payable to any
third party for making available any director’s services.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, no loan, quasi-loan or
other dealing was entered into by the Company or any of
its subsidiary undertakings in favour of any director of the
Company, any controlled body corporate by or connected
entity with any director of the Company.

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A o B 5 i o i

WE_F R FEC = A=t
bk R 4 2 > BEdE i A A AE M EH D
AR BB ARF 26 b AR AR AR A > R SRR AR L EE
AR S 10 A AT 55 = 05 A BB AT -

A Sy St Sal=g o s =t S
H oo A8 08 ) B AT fuf B J88 2 =) MR J 5T 57
B M B R 22 5 LA 2 AT A
45~ AT o] &2 i N BB B AR N R AT o]
HBBERAEZRHA -

AR R A AR A BE AR A5 B AF AT
g RTSL B SE BB A B - HA A A
AP B A RS 2 R
Loy~ T RER -

EXEBEBEERARAIAGD | _F_=ZFFH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f 13 B 285 R B R

At At At
31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
A it S WhoE
+=H=4+—H +t—H=+—H —H—H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
A RW Tt YNEY & T ANE¥T ot
(restated) (restated)
(£ & 51) (%8 E 5)
Non-current assets Ik B & .
Investments in subsidiaries B E A\ 2 B E 351,066 271,566 323,566
Amount due from a subsidiary JARE A B A D MR K 121,658 186,181 89,186
472,724 457,747 412,752
Current assets & R
Prepayments A AT A 94 376 81
Cash and cash equivalents B4 K Bl a5 EY) 32,995 13,628 22,401
30 14004 22,48
Current liabilities i B ﬁ 15
Accrued charges and other JRE T 2% Y S At 18 A+
payables MR 2,275 1,923 673
Convertible notes ] 1 % E - 28,307 -
2,275 30,230 673
Non-current liabilities Ik B £ fE
__Convertiblenotes RS ~ - 24007
_Net current assets/(liabilities) W ¥E i (A HE 30814 (16,226) 21,809
Net assets R 503,538 441,521 410,554
Equity HE £5
Share capital Ji& 175,202 160,663 160,663
Reserves R 328,336 280,858 249,891
Total equity HBE 23 503,538 441,521 410,554

The financial statements of the Company were approved by
the board of directors on 26 March 2024 and were signed on

its behalf.

CHANG CHIH-KAI

Rl

Director

#=H

HE -

CHANG CHIH-CHIAO
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A o B 5 i o i

Convertible Currency  Retained profits/
Share Capital ~ Contributed ~ nofescapifal ~ Share-based tranlation  (accumulated
premium Teserve surplus Teserve  payment reserve reserve losses) Total
| THREE  DblAER RUEH/ L
Tt Bkl SRR BARE 2R Eilfi  (ZHER) it
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARfTE  ARETT  ARWTR  ARWFR ARWFR ARRFX ARETX ARRTx
(Ngte 29a) (Ngte 1
W) Wit
At January 2002 RoRZ -0
(eed) O ms______ LB L S o w b N
Profit for the year ERR - - - - - - 18 27,8
Total comprehensive income RElGEE - - - - - - 27,283 7.8
Share aption scheme: ﬂ%ﬁﬂﬁ;ﬁq
- Value of grantee services -REARHRLE - - - . 3684 - - 3684
- Transfer upon lapse of share options - RIS - - - - (3) - % -
Tl vibbachlds  ARRZRSR - - S . - 5
At31 December 022 and S 2y g o
| Janury 2023 S i Rt
(el A e I C S I L —
Profit for the year ERgf - - - - - - 28359 28359
Total comprehensive income Al - - - - - - 839 1835
Conversionofconvertble noes TR 159 - - (5700) - - 510 159
Share option scheme: ﬁ%ﬁ,ﬁ// : - - - - - - - R
- Value of grantee services ~ AR Efﬁ - - - - 150 - - 1527
- Transfer upon apse of shae options - REREKHIER - - - - (10) - 70 -
Mol vibstolds  RERZREE ] me o bw oW S m
At31 December 2023 REFZZEFZAZ-0 128943 254 135518 - 8,018 (3.448) 56,751 328,336
Notes: iz
(a) The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference (a) KL AZ AL BRIGA L A IRIE— T 1 4F L Al

(b)

between the aggregate net assets of the subsidiaries acquired by the
Company under the corporate reorganisation in 1995 and the nominal
amount of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to its shareholders
of the Company comprise share premium, contributed surplus, share-
based payment reserve and retained profits. Under the Companies Act
of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s reserve is available for paying
distributions or dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of
its articles of association and provided that immediately following the
distribution or the payment of dividends, the Company is able to pay
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The share
premium may also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares. In
accordance with the Company’s articles of association, dividends shall be
payable out of the profits or other reserves, including the share premium,
of the Company.

REOOE UE OB OBROSER AR A

(b)

A Ji 22 7] 22 5 T (AR B AN 2 ] IR A T
FELT IR I (E 7 2 2 3

A2k Al Al IR T AR L R 2 1 5 I i
1~ AT B~ LR 73 ZEREZ T3 R B
F o WRIEPH B RERG 2 A% AL FLZ AT E
JRF R 2 3L (T - 20 S A Ak A A 2 e
PIAEIR - TSR 1 1 77 IR 2 IR 1 I B - AR 4 il 42
FARENS H i FB5 B BE o (AR YR ICT o IR0t (I
1] LU AT IE (I IR  RIFA LS vl & A 3 55 T A
A - B LA L 72 5 R 2R (G35 RO
it 1) AT -

TR TS E R
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The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i R B

TREHSR F D =FF A= HZ

December 2023: FEMEAR -
Place of Particulars of
Name incorporation" issued/paid-up capital ~ Interests held®  Principal activities
1 kMt 3 B o T AT/ B A Frfetao  FEEH
Daphne Footwear (Sichuan) Co., Ltd® China RMB§7,300,000 100%  Property holding
SR (M )1)) BEE A A R i AR H87,300,0007C HaME
Daphne Investment (Group) Co., Ltd. © China 1US$30,000,000 100%  Licensing, distribution and sale
BB EE FRAR i 30,000,000% 7T of footwear products and
accessories and investment
holding
SETEE ) R PRI AT
5 8 4 S DA I B S M
Full Pear! International Limited British Virgin Islands 3,294 shares of US$1 each 100%  Investment holding
BB EA R PR G 3,204 M 5 BT (1 3% T 2 I R
Gentlefit Trading Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of HK$100; 100%  Investment and trademarks
MBS AR Fil 13,055,667 non-voting deferred holding
shares of HK$13,055,667¢ BT f Fs A
1007 7T73 £ 1008 & 48 i 5
13,055,667 L7} 313,055,667
e SR AR E A
Hanjiang Footwear Co., Ltd., Putian City® China USD6,000,000 85%  Property holding
T F I R VRS AT R F i 6,000,000 7t HaME
Prime Success (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands 5,000,000 shares of 100%  Investment holding
KB LR US$0.01 each e seidle
5,000,000 & it i {4
0.01€TC 2 Bt fip
Shanghai Aixie Information Technology ~ China RMB1,000,000 100%  Distribution of footwear products
Co., Ltd." i B #1,000,0007C and accessories
EEEEEARARA R SR i S RC A7) B 7
Shoebox Commerce Co., Ltd.® China RMB460,000,000 96.46%  Licensing of footwear products
BEEEARAR Bl N R #460,000,0007E and accessories
SEUEE i SR RC PR ME R ] S5
Shoebox Holdings Limited Hong Kong 14,111 ordinary shares of 96.46%  Investment and trademark
SR IR R ] ik HK$381,470,740 holding
381,470,740% 77 1 TE eI RHE A T
41 i
Victoria Success (Shanghai) Limited® China US$23,000,000 100%  Property holding
KBEE (Bl ARARY i 23,000,000 ¢ SRERIES
Xieyong (Jinan) Footwear Co., Ltd.® China RMB17,500,000 100%  Property holding
Vg i B R A A R Y A H17,500,0007C RCRIES
Xieyong (Nanjing) Warehouse Co., Ltd.©  China RMB21,000,000 100%  Property holding
R B A A R Al i B 21,000,00078 ESRCRE S
Xieyong (Shenyang) Warehouse Co., Ltd.”’ China USD3,000,000 100%  Property holding
EEHARRARA RO il 3,000,000 ¢ SREE/ES

Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f 13 B 285 R B

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31

December 2023: (Continued)
Notes:

TREHR F=FF A= HZ

EEME A ()
Wt :

(a)  These companies were established in Mainland China in the form of (a)
foreign-owned enterprises and are limited liability companies.

(b)  Except Full Pearl International Limited and Prime Success )
(BVI) Limited which are held directly by the Company, all other

subsidiaries are held indirectly by the Company.

(¢)  Other than Full Pearl International Limited and Prime Success (c)
(BVI) Limited which operate in Hong Kong, all subsidiaries shown

above operate in the same place in which they were incorporated,

respectively.

(d)  The non-voting deferred shares practically carry no rights to ()

dividends, nor rights to receive notice, nor rights to attend and vote

at any general meeting of the company, nor rights to participate in

any distribution on winding up.

(e)  The English names of the subsidiaries established in Mainland (e)
China represent the best effort by the directors in translating their

Chinese names as they do not have official English names.

Set out below is summarised financial information,
before inter-company transactions eliminations, for those

R NV Sl PN v < T
RIBARA A -

5 i 2 1 55 4 R 2% 7] X Prime Success (BVI)
Limited ] 75 2\ 7] B #EFF 4 25 47 KAt 1 65
VAT BN e ATl ik 2 S Ca

b & 2 A R 2 7] K Prime Success (BVI)
Limited ¢ & i EHEA) > LU LS 7R 19 57 B
2 7] 53 S L G A STl B A

HEBE SR AL 13 B L RN 2 7] 2
2 B SR BENF 1T R A 7 4 R
S HETT o AR I B (E £
7 -

T A [ 0 2 i 2 R A R 2
i ) B AP SCE TS 2 i
2 ALl A A FCHY S5 R

N SCHE B A L B A I 4 AR AR Y T
J& o ) 2 B R (S 4R B A ) 2 TR 52

subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests to the Group: Ty HCH ) AR
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
YN & BT NR¥T T
(restated)
(KEHE2)
At 31 December W+ H=+—H
Non-current assets IR B G E 23,643 27,467
Current assets T & 193,538 454,161
Current liabilities B AR (158,766) (186,945)
Net assets 5 58,415 294,683
For the year ended 31 December BETZH=1T—HILFE
Revenue W g 513 285
Profit for the year GONE R 3,759 11,945
Total comprehensive income 2T Wi 55 AR 3,759 12,133
For the year ended 31 December BE+A=1T—HILFE
Net cash generated from operating activities REEWEE BT 784 3,935
Net cash generated from investing activities BEIEHE A 2 BT 10 229
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents B4 M B 4 S5 A ) B i AR 794 4,164

EERBEBERARLAAD | ZF_=ZF#%]| 135
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f 13 B 285 R B R

On 30 October 2023, the Company acquired the remaining
approximately 40.04% of the issued shares in Full Pearl
International Limited, a subsidiary with non-controlling
interest, from Great Pacific Investments Ltd. at a total
consideration of RMB42,500,000.

The effect on the equity attributable to the shareholders of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023 is
summarised as follows:

PR+ H =10 &2 H HGreat
Pacific Investments Ltd. U5 i % A IF 42 il 7%
Ww 2 MEARE2EBAERARGT
#140.04% 1 34T Iy > AR AR
42,500,0007C °

HEFZ - =HE+H=+—HILEEY
AN T SR RE A A 2 R Ak A

RMB’000

AR Tt

Carrying amount of non-controlling interest acquired JIT 5 I 2 ) R A W T (E 84,756
Consideration paid to non-controlling interests Tia) FE 12 il RE 25 AT A AE (42,500)

Excess of consideration paid recognised in equity A £ ffE R 2 AR R A 42,256

Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2023
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DAPHNE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
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